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@
2019 31 [2020 31 |2021 31 [2022 31 [2023 31
IFRSC )
28,839 28,334 18,402 16,679 30,780
2,076 9,759 1,067 1,748 354
1,120 7,411 1,006 1,313 257
6,455 11,610 1,672) 2,752 3,902
6,383 6,117 6,658 6,991 7,433
C )
113,000 113,000 113,000 113,000 113,000
31,215 42,825 35,853 38,605 42,507
2,591,283 2,827,759 2,758,918 2,507,250 2,173,250
276,239 378,982 317,283 341,637 376,168
9,911.50 65,584.07 8,902.65 11,619.47 2,274.34
57,123.89 |  102,743.36 |  (14,796.46)]  24,353.98 34,530.97
1.20 1.51 1.30 1.54 1.96
4.35 20.02 2.56 3.53 0.63
(66,202) (38,482) 278,897 222,623 284,332
66,557 38,332 (278,974) (222,952) (284,146)
779 600 557 241 444
« )
«C ) 113,000
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2022
10 (YCC)
2022 12 10 +/-0.25 0.50
2023
2022 10
151
2023 30,780 16,679
36,259 13,222 660 717
62,468 110,455
54,751 109,496 354 1,748
97 435 2023 257
1,313 2022 3,902 2,752
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2023 2,130,743 337,902
1,928,063 233,368 2023
334,000 2,173,250
42,507 3,902
@
2023 444 241
284,332
222,623
284,146 222,952
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3,27
3,27

4,27

5,27
6,24

7,24
8,27
9,10
11,27

12

2023 31 2022 31
30,780 16,679
(36,259) (13,222)
(5,479) 3,457

(660) 717)
(115) (145)
62,468 110,455
(54,751) (109,496)
301 95
1,764 3,649
(226) (193)
(1,184) (1,708)
(1,410) (1,901)
354 1,748
CH) (435)
257 1,313
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2023 31 2022 31
5,13,23,24,25,27 356,248 247,880
5,13,14,23,24,25,27 21,287 31,226
16 - 1
377,535 279,107
5,13,23,25,27 1,571,815 1,913,551
5,13,14,23,24,25,27 81,661 191,955
5,13,15,27 444 241
12 78 237
5,13,16,27 141,717 122,159
1,795,715 2,228,143
2,173,250 2,507,250
17,26 7,433 6,991
26 1,321 1,321
26 15,497 12,430
18 18,256 17,863
42,507 38,605
13,19,23,24,26,27 120,940 161,606
13,20,23,24,26,27 552,001 721,494
13,14,23,24,25,27 124,359 140,222
12 4,361 3,292
801,661 1,026,614
13,23,26,27 871,085 787,126
13,19,23,26,27 1,219 40,967
13,20,23,24,26,27 361,940 441,039
13,14,23,24,25,27 85,302 109,208
13,21,27 9,536 63,691
1,329,082 1,442,031
2,130,743 2,468,645
2,173,250 2,507,250
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2022
17,26 6,991 1,321 11,019 1,411 17,863 38,605
- - - 257 257
- - 3,509 - 136 3,645
- - 3,509 - 393 3,902
442 - - (442) - -
2023 31 7,433 1,321 14,528 969 18,256 42,507
2021
17,26 6,658 1,321 9,646 1,744 16,484 35,853
- - - 1,313 1,313
- - 1,373 - 66 1,439
- - 1,373 - 1,379 2,752
333 - - (333) - -
2022 31 6,991 1,321 11,019 1,411 17,863 38,605
136
3,509
66 1,373
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2022

31

1,313

152

713
12)

295,768
(109,056)
(40,032)
56,694
(4,386)
21,469

222,623

555,662
(49,857)

(728,757)

(222,952)

(329)
13
557

241

2023 31
257
(41,216)
1,069
(15)
13 233,368
83,959
13,14,23,24 120,233
13,14,23,24 (39,769)
16 (19,399)
21 (54,155)
284,332
13,20,23,24 183,423
13,19,23 (80,649)
13,20,23,24 (386,920)
18 -
(284,146)
186
17
241
15 444
(29,487)
29,262
12 (116)
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202,573 (80,649) 235 - 122,159
1,162,533 (203,497) (45,005) - 913,941
1,365,106 (284,146) (44,860) - 1,036,100

2021 2022 31
254,737 (49,857) (2,220) @7 202,573
1,334,609 (173,095) 1,019 - 1,162,533
1,589,346 (222,952) (1,201) @n 1,365,106
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NHI
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2.1
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IFRS
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24
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2023
EU

1AS IFRS

I1AS
1AS
2023
EU

2021 12 1ASB 1AS

2023
EU

2.6

1ASB

2020 23 1ASB 1AS
a)
b)

c) 2024
EU

57/201



EDINETOOOO

OO00DoO00ooo0oDo00DO000oO000LO000DO00DO00DO000000DoO0O0nDOO(E24747)

27
27

27
27

27

oOoOooodn

2023 31 2022 31
30,779 16,656
1 23
30,780 16,679
2023 31 2022 31
(223) (113)
(49) (28)
(35,987) (13,080)
- €5)
(36,259) (13,222)
2023 31 2022 31
(660) 17)
(660) 717)
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16
16
14
21
AAA
BBB+
BB+
CC

A-
BBB-
BB-
B+

2023 31
444 -
1,931,584 367
138,221 -
2,070,249 367
2022 31
241 -
2,163,323 256
120,416 -
2,283,980 256
2023 31 2022 31
102,948 223,181
- (60,610)
102,948 162,571

ccC
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2023 31

AAA / A-
BBB+ / BBB-
BB+ / BB-
B+ / B-
cce

CC/D

AAA / A-
BBB+ / BBB-
BB+ / BB-
B+ / B-

ccc

cc/D

2022

2023 31

ECL

ECL

435,470
1,496,114

1,931,584
(367)

435,470
1,496,114

1,931,584
(367)

1,931,217

1,931,217

2022

151,163
2,012,160

2,163,323
(256)

151,163
2,012,160

2,163,323
(256)

2,163,067

2,163,067

219

(211)

205

(©)
®

256

(247)

368

(©)
Q)

204

367
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2021 110 1 111
(110) @ (111)

219 37 256

2022 31 219 37 256
ECL 145

ECL 145

2023 31 2022 31

48,726 108,327

13,742 2,128

62,468 110,455

23
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11

15

27

2018

27

2022

2023 31 2022 31
(54,751) (109,496)
(54,751) (109, 496)
2023 31 2022 31
203 -
98 95
301 95
31
APA 2022 31
203
APA
2023 31 2022 31
(178) (148)
(25) @n
(23) (18)
(226) (193)
15 13
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2023 31 2022 31
(138) (518)
(904) (1,005)
* (48) (42)
(30) @7
(61) (112)
©) )
(1,184) (1,708)
2023 31 2022 31
(20) (21)
(28) (1)
(48) (42)
2023 31 2022 31
(248) (336)
- @
- 20
151 117)
97) (435)
2023 31 2022 31
354 1,748
(91) (451)
- @
- 20
(6) )
97) (435)
25.8 27.32 26.06 2022 1

25.8
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2023 31 2022 31
237 122
116 452
(248) (338)
@7 1
78 237
(3,292) (2,579)
(1,220) (513)
- (83)
/C ) 151 117)
(4,361) (3,292)
2023 31 2022 31
(5,052) (3,832)
598 476
93 64
(4,361) (3,292)
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13

2023 31

1,928,063 - - 1,928,063
- 102,948 - 102,948
444 - - - 444

- 16 138,221 - -
2,066,728 102,948 -

138,221
2,169,676

- - 122,159 - 122,159

- - - 913,941 913,941
- - 871,085 - 871,085
- 209,661 - - 209,661

- 21 - - - - -
- 209,661 993,244 913,941 2,116,846

2022 31

2,161,431 - - 2,161,431
- 223,181 - 223,181
241 - - - 241

- 16 120,416 - -
2,282,088 223,181 -

120,416
2,505,269

- - 202,573 202,573
_ - - 1,162,533 1,162,533
- - 787,126 - 787,126
- 249,430 - 249,430

- 21 - - 60,610 60,610
- 249,430 1,050,309 1,162,533 2,462,272
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16
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2023 31 2022 31
9,889 33,125
13,534 25,458
24,211 43,656
54,552 119,685
762 1,257
102,948 223,181
109,321 120,026
21,793 26,187
60,305 94,129
13,419 4,853
4,823 4,235
209,661 249,430
2023 31 2022 31
1,438,710 701,764
480,733 596,528
342,600 511,742
105,000 108,000
172,548 187,316
2,539,591 2,105,350
21
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2023 31 2022 31

2023 31 2022 31
5,27 138,221 120,416
3,496 1,743
141,717 122,159

1SDA
454 315,000
113,000

2023 31 2022 31
8,402 8,402
113 113
454 454
51,302 51,302
144.895 136.270
7,433 6,991

2023 31 2022 31
8,402 8,402
7,433 6,991
969 1,411

373
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14,851

2023 31 2022 31
161,606 242,203
(31,430) (29, 460)

(9,424) (50,728)

188 (409)

120,940 161,606

2023 31 2022 31

40,967 12,534

(49,219) (20,397)

9,424 50,728

47 (1,898)

1,219 40,967

2023 31 2022 31
721,494 797,915
94,350 322,935
(54,619) (212,639)

(187,285) (158,307)
6,387 10,207
(22,701) (36,572)
(5,578) (2,297)
1Y) 252
552,001 721,494

2023 31 2022 31
441,039 536,694
89,073 232,727

(332,301) (516,118)
187,285 158,307
11,667 9,023
(35,616) 19,532
799 308
(6) 566
361,940 441,039
4,728

68/201
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21

5,27

371,413
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374,989

1SDA

295,548
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24.
0CA
357,482
2023 31 2022 31
- 60,610
9,536 3,081
9,536 63,691
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CFO

EMB

NHI

GRMC

EMB
GRMC
GRMC
EMB

EMB
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CRO
EMB
BRC

GRMC
GRMC
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GRMC GRRC
CRO CRO
CFO EMB
( cco
CRO

cco CRO
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Libor
LIBOR 2021 12 31
LIBOR 2023 6
LIBOR
LIBOR
1BOR
I1BOR
IBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR
2023
1BOR
2023 31
* *
LIBOR - 4,574 4,854
CRM
CRM
CRM
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®)

€Y

®

EMB

NHI

NHI

S&P
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1SDA
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/
30
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66.25 70.46
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2023 31
30 90
30 90
- 708,860 693,771 186,850 363,959 - 1,953,440
- 708,860 693,771 186,850 363,959 - 1,953,440
- 708,860 693,771 186,850 363,959 - 1,953,440
2022 31
30 90
30 90
- 962,340 1,025,302 146,035 250,392 - 2,384,069
- 962,340 1,025,302 146,035 250,392 - 2,384,069
- 962,340 1,025,302 146,035 250,392 - 2,384,069
2023 31
30 90
30 90
- 1,174 610 3,089 28,502 130,630 164,005
166,250 41,526 72,877 145,392 363,074 339,636 1,128,755
- 469,245 407,167 - - - 876,412
- 307,336 96,633 519,248 923,217
166,250 819,281 577,287 667,729 391,576 470,266 3,092,389
166,250 819,281 577,287 667,729 391,576 470,266 3,092,389
2022 31
30 90
30 90
- 2,321 3,090 27,375 30,739 162,421 225,946
249,750 20,435 32,357 228,916 481,612 402,794 1,415,864
- 391,338 397,160 - - - 788,498
- 243,836 7,088 120,489 - - 371,413
249,750 657,930 439,695 376,780 512,351 565,215 2,801,721
249,750 657,930 439,695 376,780 512,351 565,215 2,801,721
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ooooooo
2023 31
30 90
30 90
55,996 1,658 2,950 9,990 30,008 48,155 148,757
55,996 1,658 2,950 9,990 30,008 48,155 148,757
- 1,679,516 289,819 16,905 123,782 44,930 2,154,952
- (1,683,989) (289, 395) (21,853) (164,195) (31,074)  (2,190,506)
- (4,473) 424 (4,948) (40,413) 13,856 (35,554)
55,996 (2,815) 3,374 5,042 (10, 405) 62,011 113,203
2022 31
30 90
30 90
141,357 2,800 5,436 19,049 30,313 46,168 245,123
141,357 2,800 5,436 19,049 30,313 46,168 245,123
- 633,669 267,778 18,958 112,320 75,623 1,108,348
- (638,413) (254,120) (31,852) (117,544) (93,677)  (1,135,606)
- (4,744) 13,658 (12,894) (5,224) (18,054) (27,258)
141,357 (1,944) 19,094 6,155 25,089 28,114 217,865
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ORM EMB GRMC

ORM 1) 2) 3)

ORM

ORM
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19

19

2023 31
356,248 360,168
120,940 115,085

2022 31
247,880 247,957
161,606 156,879
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2023 31 2022 31
102,948 - 91,100 11,848 223,181 - 192,230 30,951
9,889 - 9,153 736 33,125 - 23,563 9,562
13,534 - 3,912 9,622 25,458 - 6,431 19,027
24,211 - 23,066 1,145 43,656 - 41,597 2,059
54,552 - 54,552 - 119,685 - 119,685 -
762 - 417 345 1,257 - 954 303
102,948 - 91,100 11,848 223,181 - 192,230 30,951
2023 31 2022 31
209,661 - 189,234 20,427 249,430 - 211,803 37,627
109,321 - 108,542 779 120,026 - 111,065 8,961
21,793 - 7,766 14,027 26,187 - 5,292 20,895
60,305 - 54,860 5,445 94,129 - 86,484 7,645
13,419 - 13,419 - 4,853 - 4,853 -
4,823 - 4,647 176 4,235 - 4,109 126
913,941 - 704,510 209,431 1,162,533 - 876,348 286,185
1,123,602 - 893,744 229,858 1,411,963 - 1,088,151 323,812
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2023 31
30,951 37,627 286,185
* (2,697) (17,580) 13,068
- - 96,125
(16,072) (6,005) (83,541)
293 24,967 110,355
(627) (18,582) (212,761)
11,848 20,427 209,431
2,273 5,414 (8,151)
2022 31
39,121 41,051 403,732
* 11,406 (12,402) 15,473
- - 420,014
(17,994) 16,647 (325,348)
230 4,030 39,789
(1,812) (11,699) (267,475)
30,951 37,627 286,185
3,135 (7.322) 83
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0TC
293 230 24,967 4,030
239 183
23,934
3,727
627 1,812 18,582 11,699
495 1,274
17,038 11,654
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DCF

CFO
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2023 31
*
736 779 DCF %) 12.68-13.29%
9,622 14,027 DCF 0.64-8.51%
%) 8.97-14.14%
(bp) 37.58-79.28bp
(-1.0 to 1.0) -0.25-0.98
1,145 5,445 DCF 0.00-5.82%
(%)  16.02-59.30%
(-1.0 to 1.0)  -0.803-0.95
345 176 DCF 0.21-
%) 1.4% 35-
) 35%
- 209,431 DCF

0.64-8.51%

(%) 8.97-13.87%
(bp) 37.58-79.28bp
(-1.0 to 1.0) -0.25-0.98

) 0.00-5.82%
(%)  16.02-59.03%
(-1.0 to 1.0) -0.803-0.95

0.21-
%)  1.4%
) 35-35%

11,848 229,858
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2022 31
*

9,562 8,961  DCF (%) 13.22-13.93%
19,027 20,895  DCF 0.31-2.89%
(%)  9.20-13.93%
(bp) 41.17-75.72bp
(-1.0 to 1.0)  -0.25-0.98
2,059 7,645  DCF 0.00-6.63%
(%)  5.37-97.04%
(-1.0 to 1.0)  -0.71-0.93
303 126 DCF %) 0.24-

) 1.3%
35-35%

- 286,185  DCF

0.31-2.89%

%)  9.20-13.93%
(bp) 41.17-75.72bp
(-1.0 to 1.0)  -0.25-0.98

(%)  0.00-6.63%
(%)  5.37-97.04%
(-1.0 to 1.0)  -0.71-0.93

%)  0.24-1.3%
%) 35-35%

30,951 323,812
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172 193

2023 31 2022 31
193 347

(21) (154)
172 193
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OooooOodd
25
2023 31
(€)) ® ®
98,144 - 98,144 (98,144) - -
366,865 - 366,865 279) - 366,586
465,009 - 465,009 (98, 423) - 366,586
204,863 - 204,863 (98,423) (106,440) -
204,863 - 204,863 (98, 423) (106, 440) -
2022 31
(6)) [©) ®
202,666 - 202,666 (121,363) (60, 610) 20,693
86,636 - 86,636 - . 86,636
289,302 - 289,302 (121,363) (60,610) 107,329
237,496 - 237,496 (121,363) (115, 666) 467
237,496 - 237,496 (121,363) (115,666) 467
)
@
®

I1SDA
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2023 31 2022 31
7,433 6,991
1,321 1,321

969 1,411
9,723 9,723
122,159 202,573
120,940 161,606
1,219 40,967
913,941 1,162,533
552,001 721,494
361,940 441,039
871,085 787,126
871,085 787,126
1,916,908 2,161,955
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OooooOodd
27
i NHI 8,958
10,491 ( ) NHI 1,138,200
1,613,500
NHI 239,700 209,700
NHI 29
12 1,048
( 11,031 )
ii. NHI
658 715
NHI 658 715
iii. 203
203
NHI
62 401
NHI 21 201
i 21,821
6,165
790,230 548,187
683,517
161,713
144 157
2,106 (
2605 )
ii.
35,987 13,080
8,563
( 11,794 )
iii. 1SDA
98,144
204,863 202,666
237,496
21,649 16,036 266
1,647 21,383
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14,389

87
191
67
115
96
91

96
23

23
49 28

28

257

2023

20
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

INCOME STATEMENT

(Miions af JFY)

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Met interest incomeal{loss)

Fes and commission expense

Credit impairment gaini{loss)

Met trading incame/{lass)

Met gaind(less) an inancial kabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss

Other operating gain/{loss)

MNet operating income

Salaries and social charges

General and adminstrative expenses
Total operating expenses

Profitloss) before tax
Taxation expense

Profitlloss) for the year

MNote

327
327

427
527
624

7.24
827

8,10
11,27

12

90/201

Faor the r ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
30,780 16,679
(36 259 (13,222)
(5.479) 3,457
(560) ()
(115) {145)
62,465 110,455
(54, 751) (109, 496)
am 85
1,764 3,548
(2286) (193}
{1, 184) (1,708)
{1,410) {1.901)
354 1,748
(57 (435)
257 1,313
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Faor the year ended

3 March 2023 31 March 2022
{Milions of JPY)
Prafitf lass) for the year 257 1,313
Other comprehensive incomel|loss):
ltermna thal will not be reclassified o income siatement
Change in fair value attributable to change in the credit risk of financial
liabslities designated at fair value through profit or loss (after tax) 3645 1,438
Cther comprehensive incomel|less) for the year after tax 3,645 1,439
Total comprehensive incomelloss) for the year 3,802 2752
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{Milisaz ef TPY)

Non-current assets

Loans and advances to affiliates
Derivative financial assets
Cher non-current assets

Tetal nen-current assets

Current assets

Loans and advances to affiliates
Derivative financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Ineaime tax feceivable

Other current assets

Total currant assets

Tolal assets

Shareholder's equity and liabilities

Shareholder's equity
lzsued and paid-up capital
Share premaum

Resamne

Retained earnings

Total shareholder's equity

Non-current liakilities

Debt msued and other borrowing
Financial [abilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial liabiities

Deferred tax liabilties

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Barroneing from affiliates

Debt issued and other borrowing
Financial [mbilities designated at fair value
thraugh profit or loss

Derivative fimancial labdibes

Other liabilities

Total current liabites

Total liabilties

Tetal sharehalders equity and liabilities

Statement of Financial Position is presented after appropriation of profit.

Mote

5,13,23,24, 2527
5,13,14,23,24.25,27
16

5,13,23,25.27
5,13,14,23,24 2527
5,13,15,27
12
5,13,16,27

17,26

18

131923242627

13,20,23,24,26,27
13,14,23,24,25,27
12

13,23,26,27
13,19,23,26,27

13,20,23,24,26,27

13.14,2324 25,27
13227

92/201

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
356,248 247 880
21,287 31,226
- 1
377,535 279,107
1,571,815 1,913 551
81,681 161,955
dda 241
78 237
141,717 122,159
1,785 715 2208 143
2,173,250 2 507,250
7433 5,991
1,321 1,321
15,497 12,430
18,256 17,883
42 507 38 605
120,940 161,606
552,001 721,494
124,359 140,222
4351 3,262
801,681 1,026,614
871,085 78T, 126
1,219 40,967
361,940 441,039
85,302 108,208
o536 63,691
1,329,082 1,442 031
2130743 2 465 645
2173250 2,507 250

oOoOooodn
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Issued and Curreney Tatal
pald-up Share Ownecredit  translation Retained  shareholder's
[Milllons of JFY) capital premium reserve reserve eamings equity
As at 1 April 2022
[Motes 17, 26) 6.951 1,3 11,019 1.411 17,862 38,605
Profitf{loss) for the period . . . 257 257
Cher compiehansive
incomed({loss) - - 3,509 - 135 3,645
Tetal comprehensive
incomeljloss) - - 3,509 - 393 3,902
Euro dencminated
capital exchange
valuaton 442 - - (442) - -
As at 31 March 2023 7,423 1,34 14,528 ] 18,256 42,507
Issued and Currency Tatal
paid-up Share Own credit translation Retained shareholder's
(Millions of JPY) capital premium MeSerye reserve eanmings equity
As at1 April 2021
{Mates 17, 26} 5,658 1,321 9,645 1,744 16,484 35,853
Profitifloss) for the period - - - 1,313 1,313
Cther comprehensive
incomed{loss) - - 1,373 - L5 1,439
Total com prehensive
imcomelloss) - - 1,373 - 1,379 2,752
Euro denominated
capital exchange
valuation 333 . . (333) . -
A= at 31 March 2022 £,991 1.321 11,019 1,411 17,863 38,605

The realized own credit amount of JFY 138 million gain after tax is recorded under Refaned eamings as part of Ofher
comprehensie incomeioss) and the unrealized own credit amount of JFY 3,509 million gain after ta s recorded under
Resene as part of Other comprahensive income|Toss) for the year ended 31 March 2023, [JPY 85 mallion gain after tax
and JFY 1,373 million gain after tax respectively for the year ended 31 March 20232).

The currency translation reserve is a non-distributable legal reserve in accordance with Part 2 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. On the other hand, the own credit reserve is not a legal resemve.
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

[Millanz of JBY)

Operating activities
Prafitf{loss) for the year

Adjustments for:

et (gain)ioss from financing activites

et (gain)ioss from movemens in defermed tax
Others

Operating assets and cperating liabilities:
Decreasel{increase) i loans and advances to affiliates
Increasel{decrease) in borrowing from affiliates
Decreasel(increase) in derivative financial assets
Increasel(decrease) in dervative financial liabilties
Decreaselincrease) i ather operating assets
Increasel{decrease) in other operating kabilities

Net cash from operating activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss

Redempltion of debt issued and other barrowing
Redemption of financial kabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss

Dividends paid to shareholders

Net cash from financing activities

et increasef{decrease) in cash and cash eguvalents
Met foreign exchange difference

Cash and cash equivalents at period beginning

Cash and cash equivalents at period end

Operational cash flows
Interest paid

Interest received

Tax (paid)frefunded

Hate

13
13,14,23.24
13,14,23.24

16
21

13,20,23,24
13,19.23

13,20,23,24
18

15

12

94/201

Faor the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
257 1,313
{41,218) 152
1,069 T3
(13) (12}
233,568 205 768
B3 958 (109,058)
120,233 {40,032}
(39, 769) 56,654
{19,399 [4.286)
(54,155) 21, 468
284,332 222823

183,423 555,662

{60,5409) {40,857}

(3B6,920) (728,757)
{m,usi_ {2‘22.562];

186 (329)

17 13

241 557

444 241

(28,457) {13,357)

29,262 16,545

(118 (452}
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Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

(Milions af JPY)

Cebt issued and cther barmowing
Financial habilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss
Total liabilities from financing
activities

[Mllns of JPY)

Debt issued and cther barmawing
Financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss.
Taotal liabilities from financing
activities

oOoOooodn

1 April 31 March
2022 Cash flow Mon-cash changes 2023
Changes in fair values
and effect of changes in
foreign exchange rates Other
202573 (B0 B45) 235 122,159
1,162,633 (303, 497) [45,085) 513,941
1,365,106  (284,146) {44,860) = 1,036,100
1 april 31 March
2051 Cash flow Mon-cash changes 2022
Changes in fair values
and effect of changes in
forgign exchange rates Other
254,737 (49,857 (2.220) (87} 202573
1,334,808  (173.085) 1,018 - 1,162,533
1,589,346 (222,352) {1,201) (BT} 1,365,106
7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate information

Meomura Eurgpe Finance MY, (the “Company”) i a whally owned subsidiary of Nomura Holdings, Ing, (NHIT), a
company incorporated in Japan and ksted in Japan, the United States of Amenca and Singapore, wiach s also the
ultirmate parent of the Company.

The Company, incorporated and domiciled in Armsterdam, the Netherlands, is a limited liability company under the

Dutch law and its registersd office 5 at Rembrandt Tower, Amstelplein 1, 1096 HA Amsterdam, the Metherlands
{Chamber of Cammerce numiber 33221681).

The Company's principal activity 5 to act as a funding entity for NHI and its subsidianes (collectively the “Nomura
Group™).

The Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 shall be submitted to the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders on 14 July 2023 for adoption. The shareholder's meeting can reject the financial statements
but cannaot amend them.

2. Accounting policies

21 Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been prépared m accordance
with International Financial Repoming Standards ((IFRE") as adapted by the European Unien ("EL7). The financial
statements have also been prepared in accordance with the requirements in Part 8 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The financial staterments have been prepanred on a histonical cost basis except for dervative financial instruments
and financal labikbes designated at fair value through profit and loss, which have all been measured at fair value.

The financial statements are presanted in Japanese Yen (“JPY") and all values are rounded to the nearest million
["Millions of JPY") except where othenvise stated.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

22  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Company’s financial staternents requires management 1o make jedgements, estimates and
assumphons that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabidties, and the accompanyng
disclosures,

Eair v i ial i

A significant amount of judgements and estimates were applied to the fair value of certain financial assets and financial
liabilites, Various valuation techniques are used to determine fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities,
where these fair valves cannot be derved from an actve market. Observable market data s used in the valuation

models as far as feasible. If no observable data is available, a degree of judgement is required to determine fair values.
Detailed information about the fair value of financial instruments and valuation techniques are set out in hote 24

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at fair value
thraugh profit or boss, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts on a forward-looking basis.
The Company iecognises a loss allowance at each reporting date. Dedailed information about the judgements and
estimates made by the Company when calculating expected credit losses are set out in Note 2.3,

23  Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Foreign currencies

The financial statermnents are presented in JPY, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.

Ferelgn currency transactions during the penod are translated at the rates of exchange on the date of the transacton.
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Subsequent to initial recogniticn monetary items are translated at closing rate and non-monetary iberms at histoncal spot
rate at each reporting date. Foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities that are
manetary assets and monetary liabiltes are recognised in the income staternent

b) Operating income
0} Interest income and expense

Interest ncome and expensa for all financial mstruments, except for those classified as derivatives held for trading and
financial liakbilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised wunder inferasf and simiar income or
Inderest and simvlar expense using the effective interest rate ("EIR") method,

The EIR methed is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability (or a group of asssts
and liabikties) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant pericds. The EIR is the
rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument, or when appropriate, a shoner period, to the net carrying amount of the instrument This caleulation
takes into account the impact of all fees and commissions, paid or received, directly atiributable to the transactions,
and discounts or premiums that are integral part of the EIR method.

) Met fees and ComMISSIOn INcome

Loan odgination fees are recognised in the income staternent as an adjustment to the yield on the financial assets
carnied at amonsed cost using the EIR method,

Upfront fees received and paid on dervative financial instruments are recognised as part of the initial fair value
mseasurement of the related financial mstrument.

c) Fair value of financial instruments

Some of the financial instruments of the Company are held at fair value, A description of the Company’s policies
with regards to its application of fair value measurements to significant financial instruments is as follows:

m Determination of fair values and fair value measurement

The Company measures financial instruments, such as denvatives, at fair value at each balance sheet date. For
other financial instruments which are measured at amortised cost, fair values are disclosed in Note 24,

Fair valse & the pice that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderly transaction
betwean market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liabilty takes place either:

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or labildy

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company

Where quoted market prices or brokeridealer quetations are not available for financial instruments, prces for similar
instruments or valuation pricing models are considered in the determination of fair value. Such financial instrurmnents
are valued using models with significant unobservable inputs such as correlation, long-dated volatility, or other
unobservable inputs. Valuation pricing models consider contractual terms, position size, underlying asset prices,
interest rates, dividend rates, time value, volatiity and other statistical measurements for the relevant instruments
of for instruments with simillar characteristics, These models also incorporate adjustrments relating to market
liguidity adjustments. These adjustments are fundamental components of the fair value calculation process, The
valuation techmque used maximises the use of market inputs and minimises the use of Company-specific inputs
which are uncbservable in the market.

Valuation pricing models and their underlying assumptions impact the amount and timing of unrealised gains and
losses recognised and the use of different valuation pricing models of underlying assumptions could produce
different financial results. Any changes in the fived income, equity, and foreign exchange and commodity markets
can impact the Company's estimates of fair value in the future, potentially affecting trading gains and losses and
also gains and losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, The Company's estimates
of tair valse may invalee greater subjectivity due to the lack of transparent market data available upon which to
base assumptions of underlying valuation pricing models.

The Company applies exception in IFRS 13.48 to measure the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
on the basis of mid-price. For hybrd instruments where embedded denvatives are separated and financial
instruments which are designated through profit or loss, the exposure on such instruments is offset by the hedging
dervatives.
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The Company does not apply hedge accounting and all references to hedging in the notes to the financial
statements are to economic hedging.

All gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments that are classified as held for trading
are recognised under Ned Irading incomeloss)

() Recognition of day 1 gains and losses

The fair value of a financial instrument is normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of consideration given or
received). However, in some cases, the fair value at inception will be based on a valuabon prcing model
incorporating only observable parameters in the market or on other observable current market transactions in the
same instrument, without modification or repackaging. Where such valuation techniques are used to derve fair
values from market observable inputs, the difference bebween fair value and the transaction price is initally
recognsed in the income statement.

‘Yaluation techniques incorporating significant unobservable parameters may also be used to determine fair value
at inception. In such cases, the diference between the fransaction prce and madel value is only recognised in the
income staterment when the inputs become cbservable or when the instrument is derecognised.

{i)  Finmancial instrurnents designated at fair value through profit or loss

The Company seeks to minimize the market nsks by entaring into derivatve agreements to economically hedge
the exposures of medium term notes. The value of hedging derivative and the associated noter have the same
performance which offset each other, thus by applying the fair value option ("FWC) to notes the Company expects
1 reduce recognition inconsistency and valualion valatility.

Starting from 1 Apnl 2018, the Company applies the FVO o all newly ssued notes under IFRS 8. The Company
manages and evaluates performance of financial liabilities {issued notes) in such a way that the measurement of the
porthoho of notes at fair value throwgh profit of loss provides more relevant infarmation for risk management purpases
and transparent understanding of the Company's financial statements.

dj Financial instruments

Fimancial instruments within the scope of IFRS 9 are divided into three classifications; those measured at amortised
cost, those measured at fair value through profit or loss and those measured at fair value through other
comprehensie income,

Fimancial liabdiies held for trading are measwed at fair value through profit or loss, and all other financial kabilities
are measured at amonsed cost unless the FVO is apphed.

The Company determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition except equity instruments
and derivatives based an a combination of the entity's business model for managing the assets and the instruments’
contraciual cash flow charactenistics. Even though the Company's financial assets may meet the criteria to be
classified at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, the Company may, at inital
recagnition, apply the FW0 to those financial assets if doing 50 eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
of recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that would cthersise arise from
MEAsUring assels of labdibes of recognising gains and [osses an them on different bases,

[0} Financial assets

IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity instruments and dervatives, to be assessed based on a
combinaticon of the entity's business madel for managing the assels and the mstruments’ contractual cash flow
characteristics. A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost, unless designated
under FYQ, if the financial asset is held in a Hold to Collect business model and the contractual cash flows are
Solely Payments of Principal and Interest.

Under this measurement category, the financial assat is measured at fair value at initial recogniton minus the
principal repayments, plus of minug the cumulative amortization using the effective interest methed of any
difference betwsen that intial amount and the maturty amount and adjusted for any impairment alowance.

There are three business modals identthed under IFRS 9 for financal assats:

— Hold to Collect - Financial assets held with the objective to collect contractual cash flows.

10
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= Hold to Caollect and Sell - Fnancial assets held with the objective of both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets,

= Othet - Financial aseets held with trading intent of that do not meet the “Hald to Collest” and “Hold to Collect and
Sell” qualifying criteria.

The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial
assets to achieve its business objective. Factors considered by the Company in determining the business model
for a group of assets include how the cash flows from these assets were collected, how risks are assessed and
managed, how the asset's perfformance s evaluated and reported o key management personnel and the
frequency, value and timing of sales,

The Company manages a portfolio of financial assets through the Hald to Collect business model where all of the
following criteria are met
- The portfolio is not held with trading intent or not managed on a fair value basss;

- The portfolic of financial assets i managed 1o realse cash flows solely through collecting confractual payments over
the life of the financial assets rather than managing the overall return on the portfolio by both holding and selling
financial assets; and

- Any sales of financial assets are expected to be infrequent of insignificant.

Solely P Pringi —_

To meet the Hold to Collect business model, the portfolio of financial assets are to be held by the Company with
the strategy of collecting cash fiows from the financial assets specified by confractual terms of the instrurnent. A
financial assel can only be measured 3t amorised cost where the contractual temms give fse on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of pnncipal and interest.

Principal for purpose of the SPP test is defined as the fair value of the debt instrument at initial recognition and
therefore the contractual cash flow characteristics is determined based on a comparison of contractual cash fiows
to the amount actually invested. It is not necessarily the contractual par amount of the debt instrument.

The most significant elements of interest within a basic lending arrangement are that it is consideration for the time
value of money and credit sk Interest may also include a profit margin.

i) Financial liabdibes at amortised cost

Financial labdibes at amortised cost include the host contract of certam medium term notes that are bafurcated and
other borrowings. Financial labilities at amortised cost are initally recognised on the date when the Company
becomes a party 1o the contract. After initial measurement, these instruments are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the EIR method,

@i}  Financial liablites designated at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilibes classified in this category are thase that have been designated by management as at fair value
through profit or loss upon nitial recognition when the designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the
inconsistent treatment that would othenwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilites or recognizing gains or
losses on them on a different basis.

These instruments are measured initally at fair value and transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. For
these instruments, fair value changes afinbutable to the Company's credit risk are presented in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss, thereby eliminating valatdity in prafit or loss in
relaton o own credit adjustrents. All ather fair valee changes are presented in profit or loss Interest expenses,
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value and transaction costs associated to the financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised under Ned gaindloss) on financial labilibes designaled
al fair value through proff or loss, except for the currency translation effect which is included in Net tradling
incormeioss).

Loan commitments designated as financial liabilities at fair value through prafit or loss are within the scope of IFRS
9. These lcan commitments are initially recognised on the date when the Company becomeas a party to the contract,

and subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value reported under Nel gainfloss) on financral
liabilities designafed af fair value through profit or loss.

(v} Derivative financial instruments
Fimancial instruments at fair value through prefit or less include derivative financial instruments held for trading.

Financial assets and financial labilites are classified as held for trading o (1) they are acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of sale or repurchase in the near term; [2) on inttial recognibion they are part of a portfolic
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of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit taking; or (3) they are derivatives, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee or
a designated and effective hedging instrurnent.

The Company uses dervatives to economically hedge its interest and foreign exchange. All demvatives are
recognised on the date when the Company becomes a party to the contract. Derivatives held for trading are initially
and subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or less. Dervatives with
postive and negative fair values are presented as assets and habiibies, respectvely, in the statement of financial
position.

A dervatve embedded in a hybrid instrument that also includes a nan-defivative host that i nat a financial asset
is accounted for as a separate derivative f (1) its economic characteristics and risks are not clasely related to those
of the host; (2) a separate mstrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative: and (3) the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Initial measuremeant of firancial insfrumenis

When a financial asset or financial Bability is recagnised initially, the Company measures it at its fair value plus or
minws, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or lass, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial assat or financial kability,

Devecogaftion

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights o receive cash flow from the asset have expired or when the
Company has translered e rghts 1o receive the cash flaw from the asset and the Company has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liabilty is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing Babilty are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derscognition of the original Bability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carmying
ameunts is recognisad in the income statemant.

e) Impairment

Under IFRS 9, the Company is required to record a loss allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other
debt instruments not held at fair value through proft or loss, together wath lean commitments and financal
guarantee contracts, The loss allowance is measured based on the expected credit losses that result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reparting date unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since angination, inwhich case_ the loss allvwance is measured based on
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected Iife of a financial instrument.

Expected credit losses should be determined using all reascnable and suppordable informaton which is reasonably
available at the Company's reporting date without undue cost or effort, including information about past events,
current condions and farecasts of future econcmic condtions. The information used should reflect factors that are
specific to the obligor, general economic conditions and an assessment of bath the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the Company’s reporting date. Informaton that is available for financial reporting purposes
is ahways considered to be available without undue cost or effort

The general ECL impairment model is used to measure expacted credt losses against the majorty of financal
instruments held by the Company which are subject to impairment through the ECL mpairment model under IFRS
8,

Expected credit losses represent the diference between the cash flows that the Company is enttled to recene in
accordance with the contractual terms of the financial instrument and the cash flows that the Company ultimately
expects o receive based on following model,

The measurement of expected credit bosses under the ECL impairment model reflects:

=  An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible cutcomes;

= The time value of money, and

* Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, cument conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Lifetime expected credit losses represent expected credit losses that would result from all possible default events
ower the expected kfe of the financal instrument whereas 12 month expected credit losses are the portion of lifietime
expected credit losses that represent the expected credit losses that result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

In arder to determine whether 12 month or lifetime expected credit losses are used, each financial asset and off-
balance sheet financial instrument being individually or collectively assessed for impairment s classified at each
reparting date into one of fallowing three stages of credit qualty detenoration since the Anancial asset was indally
recognised.

+  Stage 1 = Peromning financial assets for which there has been no significant detenorabion in credit quality
since intial recognibon;

Stage 2 - Underperfoming financial assets for which there has been a significant detericration in credit quality
singa inftial recognition but which are not credit-impaired; and

+ Stage 3 - Mon-performing financial assets for which there has been a significant deterioration in credit quality
since intial recagnibon and which have become credit-impaired

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recagnibion is intially classified into stage 1 and is typically
subsequently continucusly monitored to determine whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, at
which pomt the financial instrument is reclassifed to stage 2 A determination of whether a significant increase in
creddt fisk has cocurred at each reporting date will pamanly be through a compansan of Nomura Group's intermal
credit rating applied to the financial instrument at acquisition, origination or issuance and the internal credit rating
currently assigned to the financial instrument at the reporing date. A financial instrument will be reclassified into
stage 2 where the internal credit rating has declined by more than a specific number of notches {one to four)
depending on the level of rating assigned at mitial recognition. [f there i a further deterioration in credit quality such
that the financial instrument becomes credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then reclassified into stage 3.

Internal ratings are assigned based on the assessment of the mid to lang-term capability and certainty of debt
repayment (creditworthiness) in addition to the fundamental conditions (fundamentals) of a given obligor or facility.
Internal ratings are reviewed regularly and on an ad-hoc basis, to ensure that the creditworthiness of a given obligor
will be duly and timely taken into account.

A stage 3 financial asset can only be classified out of stage 3 and into stage 2 or eventually stage 1 when it no
longer meets the definition of being credit-impaired, namely when it is no longer probable that the Company will
not be able to collect all principal and interest amounts due in accordance with the onginal or modified contractual
terms of the financial asset.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occumed since ongination of purchase namely and it is no longer probable
that the Company will be able to collect all principal and interest amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms of the financial asset. The Company considers a financial instrument defaulted {which is fully aligned with
the definition of credit-impaired) when there is failure of an obligor to make payments in full and on time of any
financial abligations, markedly disadvantagecus modificabon to a contractual term campared with the existing
obligation, bankruptey filings, adminstration, receivership, liquidation or other winding -up or cessation of business
of an obligor or other similar situations. In addition, there is a rebuttable presumgption that regardiess of the above
definstion, default is deemed to occur and a financial instrument is credit-impaired when the financial instrurent s
90 days or more past due.

A financial instrument will continue to be credit-impaired until the obligor cures the reasons for credit-impairment
or there has been a sustained observable penod of repayment performance on the financial instrument
Determination of what constrtutes a sustained perod of repayment performance by the obligor depends on the
nature of the financial instrument but will typically be for a period of § months or more.

The alliowance for expected credit losses recognised against stage 1 financial agsets is determined using 12 month
expected credit losses Conversely, the allowance against stage 2 or stage 3 financial assets is based on lifetime
expected credit losses,

Credit-impaired financaal instruments individually assessed for impairment are typically witten-off when further
cash flows are deemed uncollechble and when all commercially reasonable means of recovering cutstanding
principle and interest balances have been exhausted, Such a determination is based on factors such as the
occurrence of significant changes in the obligor's financial position such that the obligor can no longer pay the
obligation, or that the proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient o pay amounts due.
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A write off of a financial instrument such as a loan, receivable or debt secunty reduces the gross camying amount
of the financial instrument. Write-offs are initially recognised against any existing allowance for expected credit
losses and can relate to a fmancial mstrument in its entirety or to a portion of it

Recoveries are recognised as a reduction of the provision for expected credit losses recognised through earnings
during the reporting period,

For stage 1 and stage 2 financial instruments, interest income 15 recognised during the reparting penicd at an
amount determined by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carmying amount of the financial instrument.

For stage 3 financial assets, interest incame is applisd by applying the effective interest rate (EIR") to net carning
amount of the financial asset namely the gross canrying ameunt less the allvwance for expected credit losses.

T i i

The measurement of expected credd losses through the general ECL impairment model is typically determined
within the Company using loss rate models or discounted cash flow models depending on the relevant staging of
the financial instrument. A loss rate model measures expected credit losses for an individual or portfolio of similkar
financial instruments through development of less rates calculated through an estimate of the probability of default
["PD") of the obligor and loss given default (LGD) which is applied to the expected credit exposure of the obligor
at default ("CEAD"). CEAD represents the expected amount of credit exposure (i.e amount cvwed to the Company)
at the point that the financial instrument defaults,

PD inputs are determined by class of financial instrument and by internal Momura credit rating applied to the
financial instrument. PO inputs used by the Company are sourced from industry data and validated based on
higtorncal expenence. PD mpuls are prepared by referfing to SEP's histone rating migration data and PD s
calculated over the next 12 months for stage 1 financial instruments and over the entire kfetime for stage 2and 3
instrurments.

Forward-looking information 15 incorporated into the PD inputs by forecasting economic scenanos and adjusting
the base case inputs for at least one optimistic and pessimistic scenario.

LGD inputs are determined by class of financial instrument based on histarical expenence of loss recovery rates
for similar financmal instruments and other relevant industry data. LGD inputs are adjusted to reflect the impact of
collateral and integral credit enhancements.

For revolving and non-revelving lean commitments, the relevant absolute measure of CEAD represents an estimate
of the total amaunt of the facilty which will be drawn by the obligor by the tme of default. This therefore includes
any portion of the facilty currently funded and an additional adjustment based on a conversion factor to estimate
of further amounts which may be drawn,

Cash flows expected from collateral and other credit enhancements that are integral to contractual terms of the
financial instrument and not recognised separately by the Company are included in the measurement of expected
credit [osses.

f) Offsetting financial instruments

Fimancial assets and financial labilities are presented on a gross basis unless the Campany has a legally
enforceable rght to set off the financial asset and financial llabiity and the Company intends to setile the financial
asset and fnancial liability on a net basis.

a) Statement of cash flows

Staternent of cash flows has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in
banks.

For the purpose of the cash flow staterment, Mel (gainldass from financing activites ane non-cash items which include
thie effects of foreign exchange results, amortisation of debt issued and other borrowing using the effective interest rate
method and FYVO valuation,

The movement in the Defered fax assels and fabies s ncluded in the ne itern, Nel (gainlloss from movemenis in
deferred fax whie the movement in the income tax receivablef{payable) is included in the line items

Decreasafincrease) in obher operaling assels and lncreasafdecreasa) in ofher operating liabilies. Both these na
tems are presented under Ned cash flows from aperating activities

14
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h} Taxation

Current tax assets and liabiities for the current and prior years are measuned as the amount expected to be recovered
free of pad to the taxation authoribes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary difference between the carrying amounts in the
statement of financial pesition and the tax base. Deferred tax assets and habilities are recognised to the extent that
it iz probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary diference can be utilised.

The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as of the
reporting date.

24  Operating segment

The Company has organised its business activibes based on its praducts and serices. As the Company only engages
in one operating segment of financing actwity, the gross and net assets and profitfloss before taxation as presented in
the face of the financial statements are related to the same segmeant. The majority of the debt B issued 1o Japaness
investors. All loan payables, loan recevables and derivatives, except for dedvatves embedded in some of the medium
term notes, are transacted with Momura Group.

2% Changes in acoounting policies and estimates
The accounting policies and estimates are Bkely to be applicable to the Company and consistentwith those followed

in the preparation of the annual financial statements of the previous financial year, except for the fallowing
amendments to the existing standards were endorsed by EU but not yet effective for the year ended 31 March

The amendments require companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise
to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. The amendments are effective for annual
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 wath early adoption possible. The amendments are endorsed by EL
during the year ended 31 March 2023,

The Company expects to adopt these amendments as of the beginning of the new financial year, 1 Apnl 2023,
Basad on the assessment made, these amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's

financial position and performance.

Amenameenis e 1

The amendments change the requirements in |1AS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. Applying these
amendments, an entity discloses its material accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies.
Further amendments to 143 1 are made to explain how an entity can identify a material accounting policy, The
amendments are effectve for annual penods beginnmg an or alter 1 January 2023 with early adoption possible.
The amendments are endorsed by EU during the year ended 31 March 2022

The Company expects to adopt these amendments as of the beginning of the new financial year, 1 April 2023
Based on the assessment made, these amendments are nat expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position and perfarmance.

On 12 February 2021, |1ASB issued amendments to |AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes to Accounting Estimates
and Errors, in which it introduces a new defingtion of “accounting estimates”. The amendments are designed to
clarify the destinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting palicies and correction
of errors. The amendments are efective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with early adoption
possible. The amendments are endorsed by EU dunng the year ended 31 March 2022,

The Company expects to adopt these amendments as of the beginning of the new financial year, 1 Apnl 2023,
Based on the assessment made, these amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial position and performance.
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26  Standards issued but not vet effective

At the date of authonzation of these financial statements, the following new standards and amendments to the
existing standards and interpretations which are likely to be applicable to the Company have been issued by the
IASEI- but no‘t yet Eﬂactnefm tha year end‘ad 31 March 202‘3

On 23 January 2020 1ASS mssued amendments to |AS 1 Presentaton of Financial Statements to clarfy the
requirements for dassifying liabilities as current or non-current. More specifically, the amendments specify that a)
the conditions which exist at the end of the reparting pericd are those which will be used to determing if a right to
defer setlernent of a lability exists b) management expectations about events after the balance sheet date, for
example on whether a covenant will be breached, or whether early settlement will take place, are not relevant c)
the amendments clanfy the situations that are considered setttement of a liability. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 with early adoption pessible. The amendments are not
endarsed by EU yet

Basad on the assessment made, these amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial position and performance.

3. Interest income and axpense

Forthe year ended
(Mitbons of JEY) 31 March 2023 3 March 2022
Interest and similar income
Loans and advances to affiiates (Mote 27) 30,779 16,655
Cash collateral {Note 27) 1 2_
30.780 16,679
Faor the year ended
(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Interest and similar expense
Debt issued and other bofrowing (223) (113}
Cash collateral recened (Mate 27) (45) (28)
Barrowing from affiliates (Mote 27) (35,887) {13,080)
Cihers - {1}
(36,258} (132238

Main reasons of the decrease in Mai inferas! income are the changes in market conditions of interest, such as interest
rate gap bebween bormowing rate and lending rate where curréncies are differant.

4. Fee and commission expensa

Far the year ended
(Mithans of JEY) 3 March 2023 3 March 2022
Guarantee fee (Note 27) (560} (717}
(=07 [(F17)

S Expected credit loss

The table below shows the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk and loss allowances of financial
instrurments subject to impairment as of the reporting date. Certain off-balance sheet instruments which expose the
Campany to a nek of loss due to defaull by the parbes underlying these contracts are also declosed,

3 March 2023 _
Maximum exposure to Loss allowance or
{Mibions of JPY) credit risk provision
Cash and cash equivalents 444 -
COther debtors 1,931,584 38T
Cash collateral paid (Mote 18) 138 291 .
2,070,245 38T
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31 March 2022
Maximum exposure to Loss allowance or
(Milions of JPY) crisdit risk provision
Cash and cash equivalents 241 -
Other delbtors 2163323 256
Cash collateral paid (Mote 16) 120,416 )
2 283 580 256

The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure from financial assels not subject to
the impairment requirements. in IFRS 9

_Carrying valug
(Milbans of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Derivative financial assets (Mobte 14) 102,948 223181
Cash collateral received (Mate 21) . (60,610)
102,948 162 571

Below table represaents the credit risk exposure of loans by internal credit ratings and period end stage
classification, Internal rating categonies are split as follows:

1) 7 grades in high credit qualty category, from AAA o A-

2) 3 grades in good credit quality category; from: BEE+ to BBB-

3) 3 grades in speculative credit guality categaory; from BE+ to BE-

4) 3 grades in heghly specilative credit quality categary, fram B+ to B-
5} 1 grade in substantial credit rsk quality category: CCC

B) 3 grades in default grade category; from CC o D

Internal credit ratings are assigned taking mto consaderabion the effects of economic fluctuations, to assess
creditworthiness of an obligor in one year or longer from the mid to long-term perspective. In particular, internal
credit ratings are assigned based on the assessment of the mid to long-term capability and certainty of debt
repayment in addition to the fundamental condibons of a given abligor or facility.

31 March 2023
(Mithans of JEY) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Internal Gredit Rating
LLL 435 470 - - 435 470
BRE+ | BRB- 1,496,114 . . 1,495,114
BB+ /BB - . E - -
B+ /B- . - - -
coc - - - -
co/D . - - -
Gross carmying amount 1,931,584 - - 1,931,584
Loss allowance (387} . . (367
Carrying amount 1,931,117 - - 1,931,217
31 March 2022
(Mithons of JPY) S‘I‘.a!i 1 Stage 2 S‘ta.ia 3 Total
Intarnal Credit Rating
ARSI A 151,163 - - 151,163
ESE+ / BEE- 22,160 - - 212160
BB+ /BB - . . - .
B+ / B- . . -
coo - - -
CC/D - - - -
Gross camying amount 2,183,323 . - 2163323
Loss allowance (258) - - {256)
Carrying amount 2,163,067 - - 2,163,067
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The follewing table explains the changes in loss allowance for the Company's financial mstruments beteean the
beginning and the end of the period;

Leans and
advanced to Loan
affiliates comm itments
(Milians of JPY) Stage 1 Stage 1 Total
Loss allowance as at 1 April 2022 219 a7 258
Transfers to stage 1 - - -
Transfers to stage 2
Transfers to stage 3 - - -
Financial assets derecognised during pericd [211) (38) [247)
Mew financial assets onginated or purchased 205 163 68
Wirite offs - - -
Changes in modelrisk parameters {6 - (B}
Foneign exchange adjustments {3 il (4)
Loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 204 163 367
ECL allowance er provision charge for the year i
Foreign exchange 4
Total ECL income statement charge for the year 115
The Company did not have any financial assets er off-balance sheet financial instruments classihied as Stage 2 or
Stage 3 during the reporting period.
Loans and
advanced to Loan
affiliates coemmitments
{Mfithans of JFY) Stage 1 Stage 1 Total
Loss allowance as at 1 April 2021 110 1 i1
Transfers to stage 1 . - -
Transfers to stage 2 . - -
Transiers to stage 3 - - -
Financial assets derecognised during pericd {110 (1) {111)
Mew financial assets onginated or purchasad 218 3 256
Wirite: offs -
Changes in madelnsk paramelens
Foreign exchange adjustments -
Loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 213 ar 256
ECL allowance or provision charge for the year 145
Foreign exchange =
Total ECL income statement change for the year 145

The Company did not have any financial assets or off-balance sheet financial instruments classified as Stage 2 or
Stage 3 during the reperting period

& Met trading incomel|loss)

Forthe year ended
{Mitians of JPY) 31 March 2023 3 March 2022
Met trading income/{loss) on derivative financial
instruments 48 T3 108327
Met foreign exchange gains 13,742 2128
G2 468 110,455

The Company manages the risks arising from fluctuations in foreign cumency exchanges and interest rates with the
use of dervative instruments. The gains and losses on dervatives, which ane hekd for sk managemant puiposes 1o
offset these fluctuations are included in Ml frading reomeiiass).

For hybrid instruments where the embedded derivatives are separated and measured at fair value, the gains and
lesses on hedging dernvatives are offset by the gains and lesses on embedded dervatives. For the instruments which
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are not bifurcated, the gains and losses on hedging denvatives may cause fluctuation in the recogniion of gains and
losses in Mef trading incomefloss)

The vast majonty of the decrease of income in Nl Fading meomedioss) bar the year ended 31 Mairch 2023 compared
to the year ended 31 March 2022 is resulting from the hedging derivatives associaled to the financial habilities
designated at fair value through profit ar loss. This decrease is largely offset by a comesponding decrease of loss
in the Net gaindloss) on financial habilies designaled at fair value through profit or loss (Mote T)

Risk management, for information regarding the nature and extent of the Company's dealing with financial instruments,
is disclosed in Note 23,

7. Het gaini{loss) on financial lkabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

For the year ended

(Millions of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Met gainf{loss) on financial habilities designated at fair

value thigugh prfit of loss (547 —[1094968)
(54,751} {102, 496)

Interest expenses, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value and transaction costs associated with the
financial liabilites designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised under Nel gainfioss) on finansial
labilies designated al fair value through profif or loss, except for the cumency translation effect which is included
in Nef trading incomedfioss) (Mate 6).

This decrease of loss in Nel gaindloss) on financial habilites desgnated al far valse through profil or loss & largely

offset by an decrease of income in Nel frading weomelioss) (Note §) resulting from the hedging derivatives
associated to the financial liabilties designated at fair value through profit or loss,

g Other operating gainiloss)

Forthe year ended
(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Transfer pricing adjustment (MNote2T) 203 -
Ciher gains (Mote 2T) S8 85
301 35

Transfer pricing adjustment

The Company had a unilateral advance pricing agreement (the “Unilateral APA") for the avoidance of double
taxaton in the Metherlands and in Japan, with the effective penod started from 1 April 2018 and ended 31 March
2022. The Company's Unilateral APA expired on 31 March 2022 and the Company has updated its transfer pricing
documentation. According to the updated transfer pricing documentation, the transfer pricing currently applied by
the Company does nat substantially differ fram the expired Unilateral APA. JBY 203 million gain was incurred for
the year ended 31 March 2023 in relation to the updated transfer pricing documentation. Neither the Company nos
MHI was cbligated to make a payment as of 31 March 2022 based on the taxable income; therefore no gains or
losses have been incurred for the year ended 31 March 2022 in relation to the Unilateral APA.

9. Salaries and social charges

For the r ended

{Mitions of JEY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Salaries (178) (148)
Pearnsion premium (25) (27
Social charges and welfare (22) (18)
226} [193)
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10. Number of employees

The Company had 15 employees working in the Netherlands as of 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022 13). 7 of the 15
Ermphoyees witfe working part trme 28 of 21 March 2023 (31 March 2022: 7).

11, General and administrative expenses

For thie year ended
(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Sub-contractor fees (Maotes 27) (138) (218)
Taxes other than income tax (204) (1,005)
Independent auditors expenses® (43) (42)
Cther professional fees (30) (27
Administrative (Mote 27) {B1) (112)
Chers (2 (4

(1.154) (1708
*Independent auditors’ expenses

For the year ended
{Mithans of JEY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Audit (statutary) {200 (21)
Audit - other assurance services (28) {21)

{43} {42)

12, Taxation

The components af the taxation expense for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 are as follows:

For the year ended
(Mithons of JEY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Current tax:
Current income tax (245) (336)
Adjustrent in respect af current income tax
af priar years - [2)
Deferred tax:
Effect of change in income tax rate - 20
Adjustrent in respect of deferred tax
of priar years - .
Relating to temporary diferences 151 (117)
Taxaton expense (87 [433)
Forthe year ended
(Millong of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Prohit before tax 354 1,745
At Dutch statutory income tax rate @1} (451)
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of prior
years - (2]
Effect of change in income tax rate = 20
Adjustrent in respect of deferred tax of prior years - -
Effect of permanent difference bebeeen taxable income
and accounting profit {8} (2]
Taxation expense [EX] (435}
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The statutory ncome tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2023 is 25 8% while the effectve tax rate is 27.32% (31
March 2022 26.06%). The statutory income tax rate increased to 25.8% as of 1 January 2022, The impact of changes
i Dutch corporate income tao: rate 15 included above m effect of change in income tax rate.

The movements in the income tax receivable and deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(Millions of JPY) 3 March 2023 31 March 2022

Income tax |payablejireceivable

Beginning balance 237 122
Payment 116 452
Charged to income (248) (338)
Other mgvements (27 1
Ending balance 78 237
Deferred tax assets/{liabilities)

Beginning balance (3,282) (2579
Deferred tax attributable to change in own credit isk (1,220) (313)
Effect of change in income tax rate . (83)
Adjustment in respect of defarred tax of prior years - -
Increasal{decrease) related to temporary differences 151 _mn
Ending balance (4, 361) (3,252)

Deferred tax assets and liabdibes are recognised for temparary dfferences between the carrying amounts in the
statement of financal position and the tax base Deferred taxes occwr due to the diferences in tax base
measurement and recognition timing of taxable income. The majority of the deferred tax assets and kabilities of
the Company pertain to the valuation of the derivative financial instruments and financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or koss.

The companents of the deferred tax recognized in the statement of financial pesition for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022 are as follows:

(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 3 March 2022
Deferred tax attributable to own credit risk 15,062) (3,837
Waluation of financial nstruments 68 ATE
Loss allowances for financial mstruments a3 G4
(4,361) E 25@
1
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13. Financial instruments classification summary

31 March 2023
Financial
Financial Mandatorily Financial Liabilities
assets at  at fair value  liabilities at  designated at fair
amortised through amortised value through
(Milhans of JPY) cost  profit or loss cost profit or loss Total
Loans and advances to affilates 1,928,063 - - - 1,928,063
Derivative fimancial assets - 102 S48 - - 102,948
Cash and cash equivalents 444 . - - 444
Other assets
- cash collateral paid (Mote
16) 138,221 - - - 138,221
Tetal financial assets 2,086,728 102,548 - - 2169.676
Debt issued and other borrowing - - 122159 - 122,159
Financial lmabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss . - - 913,941 913,941
Barrowang from afhliates . . BT1,085 - BT1,085
Derivative financial liablities - 208 661 - - 208,681
Ciher liabilities
= cash collateral received
{Mote 21) : : - - -
Total financial liabilities . 209,661 993,244 913,941 2.116.846
31 March 2022
Financial
Financial  Mandatorily Financial Liabilities
assets at  at fair value liabilities at  designated at fair
amaoartised thraugh amartised value through
(Mbans of JPY) cost  profit or loss cost profit or loss Total
Loans and advances to affiliates 2181431 . . - 2481431
Derivative financial assats . 22318 . . 223,181
Cash and cash equivalents 241 - - - 241
Other assets
- cash collateral paid [Mote 120,416 - - - 120,416
16)
Tetal financial assets 2,282 088 223,181 - - 2,505,269
Debt ssued and other borrowing - - 202573 - 202,573
Financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss . . . 1162533 1,162,533
Bomowing from affiliates - - TET 126 - TaT. 126
Derivative financial liabdities - 240 430 . . 249,430
Other liabilities
cash collateral received - . 80,610 . 60,610
(Mote 21)
Tetal financial liakilities - 243430 1,050,308 1,162,533 2462272
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14, Derivative financial instruments

(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 3 March 2022

Derivative financial assets:
Foreign exchange related derivatives 8,888 33125
Interest rate derivatives 12,534 25,458
Equity derivatives 24211 43,656
Commadity derivatives 54,552 119,685
Cradit denvatives 762 1,257
102 848 223 181

Derivative financial labdies:

Foreign exchange related derivatives 108,321 120,026
Interest rate derivatives 21,793 26,187
Equity derivatives 60,205 94129
Commodity dervatives 12418 4 B53
Credit dervatives 4.823 4,235

209,561 249 430

Above figures in tables consst of current and non-current dervative fimancial assets and denvative financial
labilities.

(Mitbans of JPY) 31 March 2023 3 March 2022

Motional amounts:
Forewgn exchange related derivatives 1,438,710 701,764
Interest rate derivatives 480,733 506 528
Equity derivatives 342 800 511,742
Cormmadity derivatives 105,000 108,000
Credit denvatives 172 548 187,316
2 539 591 2,105 350

All the above figures in tables include bifurcated embedded dernivatives. Each derivative classification includes
dernvatives referencing multiple risk components. For example, interest rate contracts include complex derivatives
referencing interest rate risk s well as foreign exchange risk

All foreign exchange related derivatives and other derivatives mentioned above, except for bifurcated embedded
denvatives, are transacted with Nomura Group.

The Company uses dervatives for hedging purposes in the management of its medium term notes portfolio. This
enables the Company to mitigate the market risk and interest rate risk arising from its assets and liabilities,

When calculating the fair value of derivatives, the credit and debit valuation adjustments are taken into account
The credit and debit valuation adjustments are minimal as the Company exchanges cash collateral (Motes 16 and
1)

15. Cash and cash equivalents

The balance only comprises of cash in banks which is unrestricted for disposal

16, Other assets

{Mitlions of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Other mon-current assats:
Facilities and equipment . 1
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31 March 2022

120,416
1,743

{Millione of JPY) 31 March 2023

Other current assets:

Cash collateral paid (Motes 5 and 27) 13821

Chers (Mote 27) 3,405
141,717

122,159

Under International Swaps and Dernvatives Asscciation (1SDA”) Credit Support Annex signed with related parbes, the
Company posts Cash collateral to derivative counterparties related to derivative transactions. Others mainly include

accrued interest income

17. Issued and paid-up capital and reserve

Thie authansed share capital consests of 315,000 ordinary shares of Euro (EUR") 454 par value per share. The ssued

and paid-up share capital comprises of 113,000 shares with EUR 454 par value per share.

Details of the issued and paid-up capital are as follows:

3 March 2022

8,402
113
454

51,302
138,270

31 March 2023
lsgued and paid-up capital at historical cost
(JPY Milions) 8,402
|ssued and paid-up shares (Thousands) 113
Par value per share (ELIR) 454
Issued shares at par value (EUR Thousamnds) 51,302
Exchange rate (EUR-JFY) 144 895
Issued and paid-up capital (JPY Millions) 7433

&.961

Difference between issued and paid-up capital and issued and paid-up capital at historical cost is presented under

reserves as follows:

31 March 2022

8,402
§.501

(Millans af JPY) 3 March 2023
Issued and paid-up capital at historical cost 8,402
Issued and paid-up capital 7,433
Transkation difference 268

1,471

As required by Article 2:373 paragraph 5 of the Dutch Civil Code the lssved and paid-up capial account is
measurad using the shares issued and paid-up at par and translated using the closing rate from EUR to JPY as of
the reporting date. The difference between the histoncal cost and the carrying amount of the issued and paid-up

capital as of the reportng date is recorded under Curancy ransialion réserve.

18. Dividends paid

Wo dividend was declared or paid during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022
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18, Debt issued and other borrowing

a.  Mon-current debt issued and ather borrowing

(Millans af JEY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Beginning balance 161,606 242,203
Redemptions (31,430 (28, 450)
Reclassifications to cument liabilites (9,424) (50,728)
Caher movements 188 (409)
Ending bakance 120,840 161,606
k.  Current debt issued and other borrowing
(Millans of JPY) 3 March 2023 31 March 2022
Beginning balance 40 867 12,534
Redemptions [45,215) (20,387)
Reclassifications from non.cument liabilities 8,424 30,728
Offrf moviments ai (1.898)
Ending bakance 1,219 40,967

I the above tables, ather movemeants are mainly related to the effects of the foreign exchange resulls.

20. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

a. Mon-current financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

(Mithans of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Baeginning balance 721,494 797,915
Issues 84,350 322,935
Redemptions (54,615) (212,638)
Reclassifications to current liabilties (187,285) (158,307
Foreign exchange results 5 387 10,207
Unrealised revaluations (22,701) (28,572)
Changes in own credit risk (5.578) (2,287
Cther movements (47} 252
Ending balance 552 001 721,484

b Current financial liabilites designated at fair value through profit or loss

(Mdilons of JPY) 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Beginning balanca 441,038 536 604
lssues 88,073 232727
Redemptions (332,301) (516,118)
Reclassifications from nan-current labiktes 187,285 158,207
Foreign exchange results 11,667 8023
Unrealised revaluations (35.616) 19,532
Changes in own credit risk 708 308
Cther movements (5} 566
Ending balance 361,940 441,039

oOoOooodn

The impact of fair value changes attributable to the Company's own credit risk included in other comprehensive
incomel(loss) on financial habilites designated at fair valwe through prafit or loss is an unrealised gain of JPY 4,728
millizn for the year ended 31 March 2023 (JPY 1,985 million gain for the financial year ending 31 March 2022). The
cumulative valueation adjustments resulling from own credit iz an unrealised gain of JPY19,579 million as of 31
March 2023 (31 March 2022: JPY 14,851 milkon gain). The Company calculates the cwn credit spreads refering
to secondary market prices.
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Contractual due amounts of the notes which are issued by the Company may link o various indices. For risk
management purposes, the Company uses dervative transactions to hedge the risk arising from the fluctuations
of indices. Contractual obligations are included in the fair valee measurement of inancial instruments by using
pararmeters and models as of the repofing date as disclosed in Note 24, Fair value, OCA amaunts are disclosed
separately n the above.

The nates with principal protected nature have a carrying amount of JPY 285 548 million and the principal obligation

of JPY 357,482 milkon as of 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022 carrying amount JPY 313,456 million, principal
ohligation JPY 374,983 million).

21. Other liabilities

(Milvons af JEY) M March 2023 21 March 2022
Cash collateral received (Motes S and 27) - 60,610
Others 89,535 3,081

9535 3,691

Under 1504 Credit Support Annex signed with related parties, the Company receives Cash colaleral from dervative
counterparties related to desvative transactions, Others mainly include accrued interest expense and other accruesd
EXpENSES.

22, Commitments and centingent liakilities

The Company has JPY 923,217 milion unsettled loan commitments to Momura Group companies as of 31 March 2023
(31 March 2022 JPY 371,413 million). Unsetted loan commitrments are held off balance sheet, until the paint at which
they become drawn,

23. Risk management

The Company's risk management activities involve both the assessment and transfer of certain risks which the
Company must manage. The mast important types of risk are market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk
Market ask includes curmency nsk, pnoe nsk, and interest rate nsk

The Company's primary cbjective is to act as a financing vehicle for Nomwura Group. To this end, the Company
issues debt with returns linked to a vaniety of different indices including but not limited to equities, interest rate,
foreign exchange, credit and commeodities. The Company actively manages the resultant risk using derivative
financial instruments with the intention of eliminating significant market risk ansing from such instruments. The
Company transacts these derivative instruments solely with other entities within Momura Group.

The Company's financial instruments include loan advances, cash collateral deposited to or received from ather
entities within Momura Group, debt issued and other borrowing, financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss and dernivatives and bormowing from affiliates.

The Three Lines of Defence
Momura Group engages in the risk management through the “Three Lines of Defence” framewsaork:

First Line of Defence: All executves and emplovees of the front office for Financal Risk and all executives and
employees for Mon-Financial Risk are primarily responsible for risk management and assume the conseguences
associated with business execution and to provide evidence and justify that the risk arising from their business
actvities 1% in ling with risk appetite.

Second Line of Defence; The department responsible for risk management supports and monitors management
activities on the First Line of Defence and repors to boards and the senior management. In addition, the Second
Line independently evaluates risk management governance established by the First Line.

Third Line of Defence: The Internal Audit function examines and evaluates the risk management from an

independent standpeint, provides advice for improvement, and repons the examination and evaluation are reported
to the Audit Commitiee.
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Sroup Risk Appetite

Mamura Group has determined the types and levels of risk that it will assume in pursuit of its strategic objectives
and busingss plan and has articulated this in its Risk Appetite Statement. This document is pinthy submitted by the
Chief Risk Officer ("CRO") and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") to the Executive Management Board ("EMB")

for approval, It will then be further reviewed at the Board Risk Commiattee "BRC™) through the autharity to consent
te the relevant propasal raised by the executive side,

The Risk Appetite Statement provides an aggregated view of risk and includes capital adegquacy, liquidity, financial
risk and non-financial risk. It is subject to regular manitering and breach escalation a5 appropriate by the owner of
the relevant nsk appetite staternent.

Momura Group's Risk Appetite Staternent is required to be reviewed at least annually by the EMB but it is reviewed
on an ad-hoc basis if necessary, and must specifically be reviewed following any significant changes in Momura
Group's strategy. Risk appetite underpins all additional aspects of Momura Greup's rsk management framewark

Global Risk Management Structure

Upon dedegation from the EME, the Group Risk Management Committee ("GRMC") deliberates on or determines
important matters concerning integrated risk management of Momura Group to assure the sound and effective
management of #s businesses. The GRMC establishes a framework of integrated risk management consistent with
Morura Group's risk appetite. The GRMC supervises Momura Group's risk management by establishing and
operating its nsk management framework, The GRMC reports the status of key ek management issues and any
other matters deemed necessary by the committee chairman to the Board of Director of NHI and the EMB.

In addition, the GRMC, upon delegation from the EMB, has established the Risk Management Policy, describing
Mamura Group's overall nek management framewark including the fundamental fisk management prnciples
followed by Momura Group.

Upon delegation from the GRMC, the Group Risk Review Committee (‘GRRCT deliberates on or determines
matters conceming the enterprise rsk management of Momura Group from a practical paint of view and therety
assuring the sound and effective management of the businesses.

The Transaction Profile Review Committee deliberates on and makes decisions on matiers relating to transactions
andlor clientsicounterparties that require consideration of Nomura Group's reputational risk in wview of Momura
Group's Code of Conduct and Risk Appetite Staterment, thereby ensuring the sound and effective management of
the businesses,

The CRO is responsible for setting the overall strategy and direchon of the Risk Management Division. The CRO
is responsible for supervising the Risk Management Division and maintaining the effectiveness of the risk
managemeant framework independently from the business units within Nomura Group, The CFO & respansible for
overall financial strategy of Nomura Group, and has operational authodty and responsibilty aver Narmira Groug's
liquidity management based on decisions made by the EMB. The Chief Compliance Officer ("CC0") is responsible
for taking the lead in the coordination for formulating the appropriate management framework and designing Risk
Appetite for Reputational Risk, with the cooperation of CRO. The CCO also cooperates with CRO who s
respansible for monitoring and maintaining of the effectiveness of the Risk Appetite.  Officers, who oversee the
funchons in charge of Operational Risks in accordance with the Risk Management Palicy of Three Lines of Defence,
are responsible for formulating the appropriate management framewark and taking the lead in designing Risk
Appetites for Operational Risks they cover.

Policies and procedures are essential tools of governance and define panciples, rules and standards, and the
specific processes that must be adhered to in order to effectively manage risk at Momura Group. Risk management
operations are designed to function in accordance with these policies and procedures.

Development, consolidation, monitoring and reporting of risk management information ("MI%) are fundamental to
the appropriate management of risk. The aim of all risk M| is to provide a basis for sound decision making, action
and escalation as required. The Risk Management Division and the Finance Division are responsible far producing
regular sk Ml which reflects the position of Nomura Group relative to stated nisk appetite. Risk M includes
information from across the risk classes defined in the risk management framensork and reflect the use of the
varipus risk tools used to identify and assess those risks, These divisions are responsible for implementing
appropriate controls over data integrity for risk M1

The Company's qualitative and quantitative risk managemant
Market Fisk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in values of financial assets and liabilities (including off

balance sheet items) due to fluctuations in market sk factors (interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices of
securities and others). Effective management of market risk requires the ability to analyse a complex and evolving

27
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portfolio in a constantly changing global market environment, identify problematc trends and ensure that
appropriate action is taken in a timely manner. The Company seeks to minimise the market risks by entering into
dernvative agresments to economically hedge the exposures in its loans and medium term notes. The maturity
structure of the demvatives coffesponds with the matufity of the medium esm notés being hedged,

Interest Rale and Equity Frice Risk

It is the policy of the Company to hedge interest rate and equity pnce exposures via the use of interest rate
denvatives, cross cumency derivatives ar equity swaps.

The Company raises funding with short-term or long-term borrowings through the esuance of medium term notes.
The Company funds the desired currencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest and then uses both interest
rate and currency derivatives to generate the deswed nterest rate hedge profile. This will involve matching the
coupan dates on both the assets and liabilites where relevant

Applying the above hedging pelicy on interest rate exposure, the Company does net have a significant interest rate
exposure as of 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022,

Currency Exposure

Currency exposures are comprised of the monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Company that are nat
denomanated in the functional currency of the Company. All matenal net curency exposure arsing from activities
of the Company s actively hedged using foreign exchange related denvatives and'or currency derivatives.

It is the policy of the Company not to trade currency exposure; therefore, all currency derivative transactions are
enteded o with the intention of hedging anly.

Applying the above hedging policy on cumency exposure, the Company does not have a significant currency
exposure as of 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022

Libar Transition

GBP, CHF, JPY, and EUR LIEOR rates had ceased on 31 December 2021, whereas the mest used USD LIBOR
tenors will continue to be published until the end of June 2023 to support legacy preducts. The use of USD LIBOR
for new contracts is (subpect to very limited exceptions) no longer permitted.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Nomura Group, including the Company, focused on the transition of LSD
LIBOR contracts and conducting new transactions using the recommended alternatives, Momura Group has
assessed the impacts while managing |IBOR transition and seeking to mitigate risks. Migrations for exsting IBOR
positions were performed with the involvement of multiple departments across Nomura Group, As part of the
transition process, Mamira Group focused on transtioning clients away from viable legacy IBOR contracts. In this
regard, Nomura Growp including the Company held transition discussions with the clients and is in the process of
receiving consent from the holders of notes whech are referring to USD LIBOR, which is still existing.

Dwrring the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has made transitions of USD LIBOR contracts except the
postions disclesed below, The Coamgany expects the transition of the below pasition to be complated by end of
June 2023,

The transitions completed as of the reporting date did not have a material impact on the Company's financial
postion and pedormance. In additon, assessments were made for the rest of the fransitions and the Company
does not expect a matenal impact on the Company's financial position and performance.

The table below summarizes the approximate exposures of demvative and non-derivative financial instruments by
significant benchmark rate which are not yet transitioned to alternative benchmarks as of 31 March 2023, This
excludes exposures of instruments that will expire before the relevant IBOR cessation date.

31 March 2023
Financial Assets nan- Financial Liabiktes Derivative noticnal
(Milbans of JPY) derivatve® non-dervatve” contract amount
By benchmark rate
USD LIBOR - 4 574 o B4

*Carrying amounts are reported for non-derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities in above table.
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-
Cradit Risk Management

Credit nsk is the risk of loss arising from an obligor's default, insolvency or administratve proceeding which results
in the cbligor's failure to meet its contractual chligations in accordance with agreed terms. This includes both an
and off-balance sheet expasures. It i also the risk of loss arising through a credit valuation adjustment associated
with deterioration in the creditwonthiness of a counterparty.

The measurement, manitoring and management of credit risk at Nomwra Group are govemed by a set of global
policies and procedures. Credit Risk Management ("CRMT), a global function within the Risk Management Dwision,
i% responsible for the implementation and maintenance of these policies and procedures. Credit risk s managed
by CRM together with warious ghobal and regional risk committees. This helps to ensure transparency of material
credit risks and compliance with established credit limits, the approval of matenal extensions of credit and the
escalation of risk concentrations to appropiate senior management. The Credit Risk Contral Unit is a function
within the Risk Model Validaton Group which is independent of CRM. It seeks to ensure that Nomura Group's
internal rating system is properly reviewed and validated, and that breaks or issues are reported to senior
managemant for timely resalution. The unit is responsible for ensuring that the system remaing accurate and
predictive of risk and provides periodic reporting on the system to senior management.

Credit Qualily of Financial Asssis

The Company is a fully owned subsidiary of NHI, who is the guarantor of the notes issued by the Company, together
with another related party. Therefare the Company considered the credit rating of Momura Group as the same
credit rating received by NHI from S&P Global Ratings which is BEB+ as of 31 March 2023

The Company's lcans and denvative financial instruments are traded exclusively with Momura Group. The external
credit rating of NHI is considered to exhibit adequate protection parameters, as defined by S&PF Global Ratings.
Consequently, the Company deems that credit risk is minimised,

Cradit Risk Miligation Technigues

As mentioned previously, the Company enters inta ISDA master agreements or equivalent agreemants (called
“Master Metting Agreements”) to mitigate #s exposure o credit risk. Master Netting Agreements allow netting of
recevables and payables and reduce losses potentially incurred as a result of a counterparty default. Further
reduction in credit risk is achieved through entering into collate ral agreements that allow the Company to cbtain
collateral from counterparies, The impact of offsefting financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to
thess agresments is nat reflected in the staterment of financial position.

Impaired Financial Asseis

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets,
The Company recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date as described in Mote 2.3 6.

All loans ane transacted with Nomura Group, Please see Nate 27 for the amount of impairment gain/ioss recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and pnor pericd.

iquidi isk
Liguidity Risk Managerment

Momura Group defines liquidity nisk as the nisk of loss arming from difficulty in securing the necessary funding or
fram a signibcantly higher cost of funding than neemal levels due to deterioraton of Momura Group's
creditworthiness or detenoration in market conditions. This risk could arnse from Momura-specific or market-wide
events such as inability to access the secured or unsecured debt markets, a deterioration in Momura Growp credit
ratings, a failure to manage unplanned changes in funding requirements, a failure to liquidate assets quickly and
with minimal less in value, or changes in regulatory capital restrichions which may prevent the free fiow of funds
between different Momura group entities. Liquidity risk management policy is based on liquidity nsk appetite
formulated by the EMB. Momura Group's liquidity risk management, under market-wide stress and in addition,
under Nomura Group specfic stress, seeks o ensure enaugh continuous liquidity to meet all funding requirements
and unsecured debt cbligations across one year and 30-day pericds, respectively, without raising funds through
unsecured funding or through the liquidation of assets.

Momura Group has in place a number of Liguidity Risk Management frameworks that enable Nomura Group to
achieve its primary liquidity ohjective. These framewarks include (1) Centralized Control of Residual Cash and

Maintenance of Liquidity Portfiolio; (2) Utiization of Unencumbered Assets as Part of Liquidity Portfolio; (3)
Appropriate Funding and Diversification of Funding Sources and Maturities Commensurate with the Composition

20
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of Assats; (4) Management of Credit Lines to Momura Group Entities; (5) Implementation of Liquidity Stress Tests,
and {§) Contingency Funding Plan,

The EME has the authonty to make decsions conceming Momura Graupg liguiddy management The CFO has the
operational autharity and responsibility over Nomura Group's liquidity management based on decisions made by
the EME.

The Company is fully integrated into Nemura Group's Liquidity Risk Management frameworks given its primary role
as the funding vehicle of Momura Group.

The maturity profile and sources of funding of the Company are actively monitored and managed by Global
Treasury of Momura Sroup to avoid any concentration of funding by maturity and source. The distribution of sources
of funding and their maturity profile are actively managed in order to ensure access to funds and to avoid a
concentration of funding at any ane time or from any ane source.
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Dperational Risk

Mamura Group defines operational nsk as the nsk of 1oss or non-financial imgact ansing from inadequate or failed
internal processes people and systems of from external events. Operational risk includes in its definitian
compliance, legal, IT and cyber security, fraud, third party and other non-financial nsks. Operational risk does not
include strategic risk and reputational nisk, hewever, some oparational risks can lead to reputational ssues and as
such operational and reputatonal risks may be closely linked.

Operational Risk Management Framewark

An Operational Risk Management ("ORM) Framework has been established in order to allow Momura Group to
idenbfy, assess, manage, monitor and report on operational risk. The GRMC, with delegated authority from the
EME has formal oversight over the management of cperational risk

The ORM framewark consists of 1) Foundation of the risk management framework, 2) Key risk management
activities and 3) Cutputs from the risk management activities, The Company is fully integrated into Momura Group's
CRM framework.

Below are the measures taken to contral the main operational risks which form key nsk management achvities in
the ORM framework:

= Risk and Control Self-Assessment: This process is used to identify the inherent risks the business faces, the key
controls associated with those nisks and relevant actions to mitigate the residual risks.

= Scenano Analysis: This process is used to assess and quantify potential high impact, low likelihood operaticnal
risk events.

+ Event Reparting: This process is used to identify and repont any event which resulted in or had the patential to

resultin a loss or gain or other impact associated with inadequate o failed internal processes, people and systems,
or from external events.

= Key Risk Indicators: These are the metrics used to monitor the business' exposure to operational risks and trigger
appropriate responses as thresholds are breached.

Applying the above measurements, the Company does not have a significant operational nsk exposure as of 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022

24. Fair value

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Comparisan of the camying amounts and fair values of financial ingfruments

The camrying amounts of current financial assets and cument financial liabilibes measured at amortised cost
including Borrowing from affiliales fairly approximate their fair values, since they are short-term in nature. Below

tables include comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values of non-current loans and advances to affiliates
and non-current debt issued and other Barrcwing.

31 March 2023
Carrying
amount Fair value
Lavel 2 Level 3
(Millians of JPY)
Loans and advances to affiliates 356,248 360,168 -
Dwebt issued and other borrowing (Mobe 18) 120,840 115,085 -
31 March 2022
carrying
amount Fair valug
Level 2 Level 3
{Milians of JPY)
Loans and advances to affiliates 247 880 247 957 -
Debt issued and other borrowing (Mote 19) 161,606 156,870 -
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For financial assets carnied at amortised cost which have a maturity of more than one year from the reporting date,
fair value is determined based on discounted cash flows using the prevailing rates from the active markets. Credit
nsk and senionty of the relevant laans are taken into consideration in determining the fair value of the loan,

For financial Eabilities carned at amortised cost having a maturity of more than one year from the reporting date,
fairvalue is determined based on price quotations at the reperting date. These quatations are based on technigues
for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the fair value are observable either directly or indirectly, as well
as techniques which use inputs not based on observable market data.

Fair Walue Hierarchy

All financial instruments measuned at fair value, including these measured at fair value using the fair value opton,
have been categorized into a three-level hierarchy (“fair value hierarchy”) based on the transparency of valuation
inputs used by Momura to estimate fair value. A financial instrument is classfied in the fair value herarchy based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the financial instrument. The threse
levels of the fair value hierarchy ane defined as follows, with: Level 1 representing the most transparent nputs and
Lewvel 3 representing the least transparent inputs;

Level 1: Observable valuation inpuis that reflect quated prices (unadjusted) for identical financial instruments
traded in active markets at the measurement date.

Level 2; Valuation inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly
observable for the financial instrument.

Leval 3: Uncbservable valuation inputs which reflect Momura Group's assumptions and specific data.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or lability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above,

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recumring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurned between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categonsation at the
beginning of each reporting period,

The availability of valuation inputs observable in the market vanes by product and can be affected by a vanety of
factors. Significant factors include, but are not restricted to the prevalence of similar products in the market,
especially for customized products, how established the product is in the market, for example, whether it is a new
product ar is relatively mature, and the relmbility of information provided in the market which would depend, for
example, on the frequency and volume of current data. A period of signficant change in the market may reduce
the availability of cbservable data, Under such crcumstances, financial instuments may be reclassified into a lower
lesvel in the fair value hierarchy.

Significant judgments used in determining the classification of financial mstruments mclude the nature of the market
in which the product would be traded, the underlying risks, the type and liquidity of market data inputs and the
nature of observed iransactions for similar instrurnents.

Where valuaton models include the use of valuation inputs which are less obsarvable or uncbservable in the
market, significant management judgment is used in establishing fair value, The valuations for Level 3 financial
instruments, therefore, involve a greater degree of judgment than these valuations for Level 1 or Level 2 financial
instruments and has become more prevalent during the COVID-19 pandeamic.

The following tables presents information about the Company’s financial assets and financial labilities measured at
fair value within the fair value hierarchy an a recuring basis, based on the transparency of inputs into the valuation
techniques used by the Company to determine such fair values.
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

Thie followang tables show a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instrurments categonsed within

Levial 3 between the begnning balances and the ending balances as of the reporing pencd.

31 March 2023
Financial labilities
designated at fair
Derivative Derivative value through
(Milions of JPY) financial assets  financial liabilties profit or loss
Beginning balance 30,951 37,827 286,185
Total gains/{losses) in the income
staternent and statement of
comprehensive income (2.697) (17,580) 13,068
New Issues - - 96125
Seftlements (16,072) {6,005) (83,541)
Transfers in 283 24 957 110,355
Transfers out (B27) {15 582) {212 761)
Ending balance 11,848 20,427 209,431
Total unrealised gains/(losses)
for the peried included in the
imcome statement for instruments
held at the end of the repetng
perod
2273 5414 8,151)
31 March 2022
Financial habilities
designated at fair
Dervative Derivative value through
(Millans of JPY) financial assets  financial liabilties profit or loss
Beginning balance 3912 41,051 403,732
Total gains/{losses) in the income
statement and statement of
comprehensive incomse 11,406 (12,402) 15,473
Mew Issues - . 420,014
Settlements {17,804) 16,647 (325,348)
Transfers n 230 4030 39,789
Transfers out (1,812) {11, AT
Ending balance 30,951 37,627 286,185
Total unrealised gains/(losses)
for the period included in the
imcome staternent for instruments
held at the end of the reporting
perod
3,135 (7.322) 83

“For assels, positive balances represent gains, negalive balances represent losses. For labilibes, positive balances represent
losses, negative balances represent gains.

Total gains and losses on financial derivatves included in the above table are included under Nef frading
incomefioss) in the income statement. Total gains and losses on financial liabilites designated at fair value through
profit of loss included in the above table are included under Ned ganiiass) on financal habilities designated af far
value through profif or logs in the income staternent

Duwing the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, there were no financial assets and financial liabidties
recognised at fair value under Level 1. Thus, no transfers cocumed bebeeen Level 1 and Level 2.
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company assumes that all transfers of financial instruments from one level to ancther level wathin the fair value
hierarchy occur at the beginning of each quarter within the relevant period in which the transfer takes place.
Amounts reported above therefore represent the fair value of the financial instruments at the begmning of each
quarter within the rélevant penod when the transher was made.

Valuation techniques by major class of financial instrument
Dervatives:

The Company has only OTC dervatives, including bifurcated embedded dervatives, which are valued using
intemnal models using market transactions and other market evidence whenever possible, including market-based
inputs to models, model cakbration to market cleanng transachons, broker or dealer quotatons, or alternative
pricing sources with reascnable levels of price transparency. Valuation techniques include simple discounted
expected cash flow techniques, Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo simulabions. OTC derivatives, including bifurcated
embedded denvatives, are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy when all of the significant inputs can
be corroborated to market evidence.

Derivatives that are valued using models with significant unobsenvable inputs such as carrelation, long-dated
volatility, or cther uncbservable inputs are classified within Lewvel 3. Examples of dervatives classified as Level 3
by the Company include exolic interest rate dervatives, exotic foreign exchange derivatives, exotic equity
derivatives, exctic derivatives including a combination of interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks and certain
other transacions inchdng long -dated or exotc credit denvatives,

‘aluation techniques may rely on parameters which are not cbservable in the market due to an absence of
equivalent, current, market transactions or cbservable market data, These valuation techniques are based on
assurmpbons. As a resull, the fair value caleulated using Mhese valuaton technigues will change if the undarlying
assumptions change.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, a total of JEY 293 million of financial assets (31 March 2022 JPY 230 million)
and a tatal of JPY 24 967 million of financial labiibes (31 March 2022 JPY 4,030 million) were transfered into
Level 3. On the financial assels side the transferred amount comprised primarily JFY 239 million of interest rate
dervatives (31 March 2022 comprised pamarily JPY 183 million of equity derivatives) which were transferred into
Level 3 because certain valatilities and correlations became unobsersable or the significance of unobservable
parameters increased. On the financial lmabilites side the transferred amounts comprised primarily JPY 23 934
millicn of equity derivatives (31 March 2022; comprised primarily JPY 3,727 milkon of equity derivatives) which
were transferred into Level 3 because certain volatilities and correlations became unobservable or the significance
of unchservable parameters increased.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, a total of JPY 827 million of financial assets (31 March 2022; JPY 1,812 million)
and a total of JPY 18,582 million of inancial liabilities (31 March 2022; JPY 11,680 million) were transferred out of
Level 3. On the financial assets side the transfered amount comprised primanly JPY 405 million of foreign
exchange related derivatives (31 March 2022 comprised primarily JPY 1,274 milion of equity derivatives) which
were transfamed out of Level 3 because certain volatilities became abservable ar the significance of unobserable
parameters decreased. On the financial llabilites side the ransferred amounts comprised primarily JPY 17 038
millicn of equity derivatives (31 March 2022; comprised pamarily of JPY 11,654 mallion of equity denvatives) which
were transfemed out of Level 2 because certain volatilities and correlations became cbservable or the significance
of unchservable parameters decreased,

Megiym:- term notes:

The Company issues medium-erm notes which contains embedded features that alter the retumn to the investor from
simply recenving a fuced or floating rate of nterest to a retum that depends upon some other vanables, such as an equity
of equity index, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, credit ratng of a third party or 3 mone complex ntenest rate
{Le., an embedded derrvative).

The fair value of such medium term notes & determined using a quoted market prce in an actve market for the identical
lability if available, and whene not available, using a macture of valuation technsgues that use the quoted price of the
identical kability when traded as an asset, quoted prices for similar Eabilities, similar liabilities when traded as an asssat,
or an internal model which combines discounted cash flow ("DCFT) valuation techniques and option pricing models,
depending on the nature of the embedded features within the medium term note. The sagnificant valuation inputs used
to estimate the fair value of the debt instrument compenent include yield curves, prepayment rates, default of
probabilities and loss severities.

Valuation processes
The Company is fully integrated into Momura Group's governance framework which mandates determination or

validation of a fair value measurement by control and suppart functions independent of the businesses assuming
the risk of the financial instrument in order to ensure the appropnateness of any fair value measurement of a
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

financial instrument used within these financial statements including those classified as Level 3 wathin the fair value

hierarchy.

The functions within Momura Group for either defining, implementing of maintainihg valuation palcies and

procedures are as follows:

. The Valuation Model Validation Group within Momura's Risk Management Department reviesws pricing models
and assesses model approprateness and consistency independently of the front office. The model reviews
consider a number of factors about a model's suitability for valuation and sensitivity of a particular product.
Valuation modets are calibrated to the market on a periodic basis by comparison to observable market pricing,
comparison with alternative models and analysis of risk profiles.

+  The Accounting Policy Group within Nomura's Finance Department defines the Group's accounting policies
and procedures, including those associated with determination of fair value. This group reports to the Global
Head of Accounting Palicy and utimately to the CFO of Nomura Group.

Quantitative information regarding significant unobservable inputs and assumptions

The following table presents information about the significant uncbservable inputs and assumptions used for
financial instruments classified as Level 3, Thess financial instruments also typically include cbsenable valuation
inputs {i.e, Level 2 valuabon inputs) which are not included in the table

Thi follieaing table shows valuation technigues and inputs used in the fair value measurements of Level 3 financial

assets and financial liabilites:

Fair value as of

31 March 2023
Significant Range of
‘Waluation uncbservable valuation
[Milans of JPY) Assets Liabliities  technigue(s) inputs inputs’
Foregn exchange 736 778 DCFMOption FX Vaolatilities (%) 12.68-13.25%
related derivatives Model
Interast rate 9,622 14,027  DCFOption Interest rates 0.64-851%
denvatves Model FX Volatilities{%) 8.97-14.14%
IR Volatilities{bp) 37 58.79.28bp
Comelations -0.25-0.68
(«1.0 to 1.0
Equity derrvatives 1,145 5445  DCF/Cption Dividend yield 0.00-5.82%
Maodel EQ Volatilities({3%) 16.02-59.30%
Comrelations -0.803-0.95
(-1.0t0 1.0
Credit derivatives 345 178 DCF Credit Spreads(%) 021 1.4%
Recovery Rate%) 35-35%
Financial labilities. 209,421 DCFOption  Interest Rate Denvatives
designated at fair Model Interest rates 0.64-851%
value through FX Volatilities{%) BAT-13.87%
profit or loss IR Volatilties{bp)  37.58 -70.28bp
Correlations (1.0 t0 1.0) 0.25-0.98
Equity Derivatives
Diwvidend yield{%) 0.00-5.82%
EQ Volatilities(3%) 16.02 -58.05%
Correlations (-1.0t0 1.0 -0.803-0.95
Credit Derivatives.
Credit Spreads (%) 0.21 1.4%
Recovery Rates{%] 35-35%
Total 11,848 229 858
28
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value as of

31 March 2022
Significant Range of
Valuation unobsarvable valuation
_(Millons of JEY) Assets  Liabilities  technigue(s) _inputs inputs’
Foregn exchange 9,562 8961 DCFOption FX Valatilities(%) 13.2213.02%
related dervatives Miodel
Interest rate 19,027 20895  DCFICplion Interest rates 0.31-2.88%
dervatives Model FX Volatilities (%) 9.20-13.05%
IR Volatilites(bp) 4117 -75.72bp
Caorrelations -0.25-0.98
(1.0t 1.0)
Equity derivatives 2,059 7645  DCFOption Cavidend yield 0.00.5.63%
Medel EQ Vaolatilities{%) 5.37 -97.04%
Caorrelations 0.71-0.83
(-1.0ta 1.0
Credit derivatives 303 126 DCF Credit Spreads({%) 0.24 -1.35%
Recovery Rate(3%) 35-35%
Financial labilities. 288185 DCF/Option  Interest Rate Derivatives
designated at fair Model Interest rates 0.31-2.80%
value through FX Volatilities(%) 8.20-13.83%
profit or loss IR Yolatlibes!bp) 4117 -T5.T2bp
Carrelations {-1.0 ta 1.0) -0.25-0.98
Equity Darivatives
Dividend yield(%) 0.00-6.63%
EQ Volatilities{%) 5,37 -97.04%
Caorrelatiens (1.0 to 1.0 071093
Credit Derivatives
Credit Spreads (%) 0,24 -1, 35%
_ Recovery Rates{%) 35-35%
Total 30,851 323812

* Range information is provided in percentages, coefcients and represents the highest and lowest level significant uncbservable valsation input
used to valse that fype of financial instrument. A wide in the mnge does not necessarly refect inoreased uncerainty or subjectivity in
the walaation input and is typically just a consequence althe different charactedstics of the Snancial instnaments themswes.

Sensitivity of fair value to changes in unobservable inputs

Given that the valuation of Level 3 financial instruments fluctuate in response te a variety of factors, including, but
not limited t© general market sentiment, credit, interest rate, foreign exchange and comelation risk, current values
may continue to decrease if condiions detenorate further. Conversely, should conditions improve; an increase in
the value of the Level 3 portfolio would be expected. However, management does not anticipate a significant impact
in the net position of Level 3 financial instruments.

As the Company enters into derivative transactions to hedge its exposures in madium term notes, the increase or
decrease in the value of the Level 3 portfolio wall not significantly impact its profits and losses. Hedging derivative
instruments offset the positions anising from the dervatives which are embedded in the debt instrumants and kmit
the senstivity of fair value to changes in uncksenable inputs related to these financial instruments.

For each class of financial instrument described in the above tables, changes in each of the significant
unobservable inputs and assumgtions used by the Company will impact the fair value measurement of the financial
instrument. The sensitivity of these Level 3 fair value measurements to changes in unobservable inputs and
interrelationships between those inputs are described below:

Derivatives - Where the Company is long the underlying risk of a dervative, significant increases (decreases) in
the underlying of the derivative, such as interest rates or credtt spreads in isolation or significant decreases
{increases) in dividend yields would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement. Where the
Company i shoal the undethyng rsk of a defvative, the impact of these changes would have a converse effect on
the fair value measurements reparted by the Company.

A0
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NOMURA EUROPE FINANCE N.V.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Where the Company is long optionality, recovery rates or comelation, significant increases (decreases) in volatilities,
recovery rates or correlation will generally result in a significantly higher (kewer) fair value measurement Where
the Company & short optionakty, recovery rates of cormelation, the impact of these changes would have a converse
effect on the fair value measurements.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss — When financial Babilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss contain embedded features, embedded features alter the return to the investor from simply
recening a fived of floating rate of interest to a return that depends upon some ather varmables, such as an equity
or equity index, commaodity price, foreign exchange rate, credit rating of a third party or a more complex interest
rate.

Given that the financial dervatives are held for nsk management purposes fo offset movement from such financial
liabilites designated at fair value through profit or loss, sensitivity of the fair value of the financial iabilites designated
at fair value through profit or loss to changes in unobservable inputs are expected to be in the oppaosite direction of
those of the derivatives.

There is no predictable interrelationship bebween significant unobservable inputs for Level 3 financial instruments.

Given the Company is exposed to imited market risk, the sensitivity of the profit or loss and equity to unobservable
inputs is negligicle. Regarding the statement of financial position, when reascnably possible altermative
unohservable inputs are used, the impact on fair value of Level 3 instruments is not significant compared to the
tetal assets of the entlty,

Day 1 gains and losses

Gains and losses generated from the use of valuation technigues with signdficant unobservable parametens are defermed
ower the e of the contract untl parameters become obsarvable or when the instrument is derecognised. Changes in
fair value after incepbon are recognesed in the income statement The total fair value attributable to these financial
instruments that is yet to be recognised in the income statement as of the reporting date is J&Y 172 milkon gain (31
March 2022 JPY 193 millian gain). The foliowang table shows a reconciliation of movements in the day 1 gains and
lzsses bebeeen the beginning balances and the ending balances.

31 March 2023 3 March 2022
{Mitions of JPY)
Beginning balance gain 153 Y
Mew transactions . -
Ammounts recognised in prefit of kss dunng the year (21 {154)
Ending balance gain 172 183

41
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25. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

The following table provides a summary of financial assets and financial lmbilities subgect to the Master Netting
Agreements and similar agreements.

31 March 2023
Related amounts not set off in
the statement of financial

position
Gross
amounts  Amounts
Gross amounte of “H::: in Prf:;:':ﬂ
;fn‘;?;‘;sfd balance  balance Financial Cash Net
(Millions of JPY)  assetsiliabilities!" sheet sheet instruments®  collaterall® Amount
Derivative
financial assets 08,144 . 05,144 (58,144)
Loans and
advances to
affiliates 366,565 . 366,865 (279) . 366,556
Total financial
assets 465,009 - 465,009 (98,423 - 366,586
Dernivative
financial 204 863 . 204 863 (88,423) (106, 440)
liabilities
Total financial
liabilities 204,863 - 204,883 (98,423} {106,440} .
31 March 2022
Related amounts not set off in
the statement af financial
position
Gross
amounts  Amounts
Gross amounts of nﬁ::"t in  presantad
recognised L] in the
financial palance balance Financial Cash Met
(Millons of JEY)  assetsiliabilities’ sheot sheet instruments®  collateral® Amount
Dervative
financial assets 202, 666 - 202 666 (121,363) (B0,610) 20,693
Loans and
advances to
affilates 85 B35 = 25 836 = = 86 638
Total financial
assets 289,302 - 288,302 [121,363) (8:0,610) 107,329
Derivative
financial
_liabilities 237 406 . 237,496 (121,363) (115,666) 467
Total financial
_liabilities 237 496 - 237 496 (121,363) {115,666) 467

1) The bifurcated embedded derialives are excludad as they are net i scope of master netting and similar agreements.

2) Those represent amounts which are not permitted to be offset on the face of the balance sheet but which provide the
Company with the right of offsel in the event of counterparty default, insohency of banknptey.

3) The cash collateral received against the positive mark to market values of derivalives and the cash collateral pledged
Rerwarcds bhe negatie mark to markel values of dervatives are reported undar Othar Yabilibes and Other 225818 respectivaly.
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The Company entered inte 1SDA Master Agreements wath all derivative counterpartes which grant the Company
the right to set off in the event of counterparty default, insohency or bankruptcy. The Company also entered intoe
Cn Balance Sheet and Off Balance Sheet Master Netting Agreements with ane of the counterparbes which grant
the Company the nght 1o set off in the event of counterpanty default, insalvency of bankruptey. These arfangements
reduce credit risk exposure relative to what the credit exposure would be if the same counterparty were liable for
their gross exposures an the same underlying contracts,

Usually, netting arangements ane constituted by a master netting agreament which specifies the general terms of
the agreement bebween the counterparties, including information on the basis of the netting calculation, types of
collateral, the definition of default and ather termination events, the calculation of damages {on defaull) and
documentatian required. The Master Netting Agreement contains the terms and conditions by which all (or as many
as possible) relevant transactions bebween the counterpartes are governed. Multiple indwidual transactons are
subsumed under this general master netting agreement, forming a single legal contract under which the
counterparties conduct their relevant mutual business. In addition to the mitigation of credit risk, placing ndividual
transactions under a single master netting agreement that provides for netting of transactions in scope also helps
to matigate settlement rsks assooated with transacting in multiple jurisdictions or across multiple contracts.

26, Capital management policy

The objective of the Company's capital management policy is to ensure that the Company has an appropriate level
of capital, being issued capital and issued medium term notes and bormowing from affiliates. The Company reviews
the approprate level of capital - the determination of the level of appropriate capital will take into consideration the
financing needs and liquidity position of Momura Group.

Mo changes were made i the chjectves, policies of processes fof managing capital during the year.

3 March 2023 31 March 2022

(Milhons of JFY)
Issued and paid-up capital 7433 6,991
Share premaum 1,321 1,321
Currency translation reserve 2] 1,411
Total issued capital ] 9723
Debt issued and other bofrowing 122159 202,573

- Men-current 120,940 161,606

- Current 1,219 40 867
Financial [iabilities designated at fair value through profit 813 841 1,162,533
or loss

- Men-currént 552,001 721,484

= Current 241,840 441,020
Borrowing from affiliates 871,085 T87 126

- Men-current - -

- Current 71,085 TBT 126
Total issued capital, medium term notes and borrowing
from affiliates 1,916,208 2 181,855
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27. Related parties

Same as disclosed in elsewhene of these financial statements, the Company had the fallowing matenal transactons
with related pates dunng the pernod.

a. Transactions with the parent

. The Company enterad into koan agreements with NHI and eamed interest income of JPY 8,858 millicn for
the year ended 31 March 2023 {31 March 2022 JPY 10,4591 million) {Refer to Mote 3). As of 31 March
2023, the total outstanding loan to MHI amounted to JPY 1,138,200 million (31 March 2022: JPY 1,613,500
millsan). The cutstanding balance 5 unsecured. The Company has JPY 230,700 millon unsettied loan
commitments o NHI as of 31 March 2023 ([ 31 March 2022: JPY 208,700 million). JPY 28 milkon
impairment gain has been recognised for the year ended 31 March 2023 on the lcans and unsettied loan
commitments to MHI (31 March 2022; JPY 12 million gain). As of 31 March 2023, accrued interestincome
of JPY 1,048 million from MHI & reported under Other current assets (31 March 2022 JPY 1,031
millicn)

ii. The Company entered into a dealer agreement with MHI, as one of the guarantors of the Company notes,
whereby the Company has agreed to pay a fee (Refer to Note 4) based on the average outstanding
amount of the notes during the relevant calculaton pericd. JPY 858 milion guarantee fees were reported
under Fee and commission expense for the year ended 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022 JPY 715 million).
As of 31 March 2023, the guarantee fee payable to MHI is JPY 655 million (31 March 2022 JPY 715
millan).

iii. In accordance with the transfer pricing agreement (Refer to Note 8), JPY 203 million gain was reparted
under Cther operaling gaindlcss) as of 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022 0). JPY 203 million was
accrued under Cther assels as of 31 March 2023, (31 March 2022: 0).

. The Company incurred service fee of JPY 62 million for NHI information technology infrastructure
support and other services for the year ended 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022; JPY 401 millian). This
expense is reported under General and administrative expenses in the income statement. As of 31
March 2023, the service fee payable to MHI is JPY 21 million (31 March 2022; JPY 201 million),

b. Transactions with the Managing Directars

Asoof 31 March 2023, the Company had tewo Managing Directors who were seconded from Nomura Group,
Mo remuneration to the managing directors was chargeable o the Company for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022

€. Transactions with other related parties

I. The Company entered into loan agresments with other related parbes and earmed ivterest income of JPY
21,821 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022; JPY §,185 million) (Refer to Note 3), As
of 31 March 2023, total cutstanding loan to other related parties amounted to JEY 790,230 million (31
March 2022 JPY 543187 million). Al outstanding balances are unsecured. The Company has J&Y
583,217 million unsattled loan commitments 1o other related parties. as of 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022
JPY 161,713 million), JPY 144 million irmpairment loss has been recognised for the year ended 31 March
2023 on the kans and unsetthed commatments 1o ather related parties (31 March 2022 JPY 157 milkon
less). As of 31 March 2023, accrued nterest income of JPY 2,106 milion from other related parties is
reported under Other current assefs (31 March 2022 JPY 805 million).

il. The Company entered into borondng agreements with other related parties and incurred interest expense
(Refer to Note 3). As of 31 March 2023, miterest expense from such agreements amaounted to JPY 35987
milion (31 March 2022 JPY 13,080 million). As of 31 March 2023, accrued interest expense of JFY
8,563 million to other related parties is reported under Obher current Fabities (31 March 2022 JPY
1,754 millian)

iii. The Company entered into derivative transactons with other related partes wnder |SDA Master
Agreements. As of 31 March 2023, dervative financial assets and dervative financial liabilities with other
related parties amounted to JPY 28,144 millien and JPY 204,863 million, respectively (31 March 2022
dervative financal assets - JPY 202 666 rmillion and dernvative financal labilibes - JPY 237 496 rmilkon).

iv. Asof 31 March 2023, total cutstanding balance of debt issued by the Company held within Momura Group
for liquidity or market making purposes amounted o JBY 21,649 million (31 March 2022 JPY 16035
milion) of which JPY 265 milion classified under Debl issued and otfver barowing (31 March 2022 JPY
1,847 million) and JPY 21,383 millon under Financal abwfes designaled at far value hrough profit or
lags (31 March 2022; JPY 14,380 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

v, The Company entered ints a dealer agreement with one of the related paries in Momura Group, as
guarantors of the Company notes, whereby it has agreed o pay a fee (Refer to Note 4) based on the
average outstanding amount of the notes during the relevant calculation peried. JPY 2 million guarantee
fees ware charged to Fee and comwission expense for the year ended 31 March 2023 { 31 March 2022
JEY 2 million). As of 31 March 2023, the guarantea fee payable of JPY 2 million is reported under Ofhar
curen! fabities (31 March 2022 JPY Z million).

vi. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company incurred service fees amounting to JPY &7 million to
other related parties for provision of cperational support which is repoted under General and
administrative expenses in the income statement (31 March 2022 JPY 121 milion). As of 31 March 2023,
the service fee payable of JPY 67 million to other related parties is reported under Obher curent
liahlties (31 March 2022: JPY 115 million).

Wi

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Comgany incurred senice revenue amounting fo JPY 96 millicn
from ather related parties for operational support which is reported under Other operaling gainikoss) in the
income statement (31 March 2022: JPY 91 million). Asof 31 March 2023, the service revenue receivable
of JPY 98 million to other related parties is reported under Other current assefs, (31 March 2022; JPY
23 million),

viil. The Company placesireceives cash collateral toffrom other related parties for dereative transactions and
incurred interest. The Company earned interest income amounting to JPY 1 million from the cash collateral

for the year ended 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022 JPY 23 million). The Company incurred interest
expenses amounting b JPY 4% million from the cash collateral for the year ended 31 March 2023 (31
March 2022 JFY 28 million).

28, Events after the reporting penod

As of the date of this report, there have been no events subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2023 which

requires adjustments of, or disclosures in, these financial statemeants of notes thereto,

28, Appropriation of result - Management proposal

The management proposes to add the total gain for the year ended 31 March 2023 of JPY 257 million to the retained
eamings. This propesal has been reflected in the financial statements

5 July 2023

Managing Directors

Kentaro Kubota Kenichire Asano

OTHER INFORMATION

Independent auditor's report

The report of the independent auditors, Emst & Young Accountants LLP,
Appropriation of result - Provision in the Company's articles of association

In accordance with Arbcle 20 of the Company's articles of associabon, the net result shall be free at the disposal of the
General Meeting
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HSILI(T) = HSILI(T-1)x [1 + {Kx (HSI(T)/HSI(T-1) - 1) - (K-1) x (HIBOR/365) x D(T,T-1) - Kx (K-1) x  (HSI
(T)/HSI(T-1) - 1) x Stamp Duty } ]

HSILI(T): ©)
HSILI(T-1): m
K: 2
D(T,T-1): T T-1
HIBOR: 11 HIBOR
HSI(T):
HSI(T-1):
Stamp Duty:
50

HSISI(T) = HSISI(T-1)x [1 + {-Kx (TRHSI(T)/TRHSI(T-1) - 1) + (K+1) x (HIBOR/365) x D(T,T-1) - Kx (K+1) x
(TRHSI(T)/TRHSI(T-1) - 1)  x Stamp Duty } ]

HSISI(T): m
HSISI(T-1): m
K:1
D(T,T-1): T T-1
HIBOR: 11 HIBOR
TRHSI(T):
TRHSI(T-1):
Stamp Duty:
50

200
L(T) = L(T-1)x [1 + {Kx (S(T)/S(T-1) - 1) - (K-1) x (r/365) x D(T,T-1) } ]

L(T): m 200

L(T-1) : m 200
K: 2

D(T,T-1): T T-1

r: 91 CD

S(M): 200

S(T-1): 200

200
I(T) = I(T-1)x [1 + {Kx (F()/F(T-1) - 1) + (1 - K x M) x (r/365) x D(T,T-1) } ]

1(M): m 200

1(T-1) : m 200
K: -1

M:

D(T,T-1): T T-1

r: 91 CD

F(T): 200

F(T-1): 200
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m =
SPI_EHn = m S&P

SPI1_EHn1 = (m-1) S&P

SPI En = m S&P

SPI_En1 = (m-1) S&P

SPI_ELn1 = (m-1) S&P

HRn = m

Sn=m FC/LC
Fn=m FC/LC

SPI_EH:1 = SPI_EHo x SPI_E1 /SPI_Eo  HR:

SPI_EHn = SPI_EHn1 x  SPI _En /SPl Eni  HRn

HRn = (Sm—l/ Fm—l)—(Sm—l/ Sm)

m d=1,2,3, D
md m d m0 m-1
F Ind = m d

F Ind = Swd + (D-d)/D  x (Fnd - Snd)

SPI_EHnd = SPI_EHwo x  SPI_End /SPI_En0  HRud

HRn = (Sm / Fn )—(Sm / F_|md)
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K =
K=2, = 200

= TIBOR(T10003M)
Dt, t-1 =t t-1

« ) ( )(DIIA2LIP)

(DJIHIP) DJIA2LIP

DJIIA2LIP(L)=
DIIA2LIP(t-1)x [1+[2x [DIIHIP(t)/ DIIHIP(t-1)-1]-(2-1)x [TI10003M/360]x D(t,t-1)] ]

S&P

Kx [ v/ (t-1) - 1]
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(T-1) x (1+ NPR2XL_RETURN)

1,000
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NPR2XL_RETURN = 2x (NIFTY_PR(T)/NIFTY_PR(T-1) -1) - (TREPS(T-1)/360)x D(T,T-1)

NPR2XL(T)
NPR2XL(T-1)
NIFTY_PR(T)
NIFTY_PR(T-1)
D(T,T-1) T T-1
TREPS(T-1)

TREPS

Nifty50
NTRIXI(T) = NTRIXI

m Nifty50 @)
m Nifty50 @
m NIFTY 50  (
m NIFTY 50  (
m TREPS
( )
(T-1) x (1+ NTRIXI_RETURN)

1,000
1,256.38
NIFTY 50  ( )
NIFTY 50
( )
( )
)

NTRIXI_RETURN = -1x (NIFTY_TR(T)/ NIFTY_TR(T-1)-1) + 2x (TREPS(T-1) /360)x D(T,T-1) - (TREPS(T-1) /360)x D

(a,T-1)
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NIFTY_TR(T)
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
30,841.69 24,080.11 21,620.88 23,103.58 14,274.76
16,327.56 16,665.33 11,776.79 11,890.75 4,536.61
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
6,963.09 7,114.30 8,098.85 10,441.55 9,868.46 8,561.32
4,536.61 4,926.42 7,171.89 8,264.39 7,897.43 7,228.00
)
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
5,670.84 5,524.01 6,056.80 5,047.12 7,011.76
4,447.28 4,563.88 4,518.82 3,935.67 4,575.96
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
7,011.76 6,685.43 5,412.03 4,998.13 5,075.79 5,244.63
5,735.31 5,433.62 5,057.71 4,433.13 4,553.78 4,854.38
)
200
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
371.77 264.33 418.96 525.15 416.18
213.03 194.78 116.78 371.85 201.94
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
227.55 263.76 261.12 267.86 264.01 255.34
203.18 230.59 212.11 209.78 243.94 230.49
)
200
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
890.83 911.02 1,121.14 531.65 686.14
686.00 765.93 523.75 454.61 497.39
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
684.93 640.99 657.12 661.72 612.78 630.12
643.79 594.71 598.68 585.67 589.70 597.82
)
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JPX
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
17,349.46 21,413.13 36,165.67 33,693.02 47,094.97
13,224.51 15,228.30 19,075.25 25,256.59 31,509.46
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
45,012.85 45,488.12 43,883.61 46,114.43 45,801.42 50,172.39
42,397.32 42,680.15 41,188.31 42,570.49 43,581.38 44,778.66
()
JPX
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
6,317.04 5,865.28 5,112.78 4,247.21 3,735.99
5,546.42 4,888.43 3,628.89 3,626.40 3,030.01
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
3,154.94 3,133.02 3,185.63 3,132.36 3,087.79 3,044.79
3,059.80 3,037.63 3,089.43 3,004.16 3,013.87 2,870.64
)
JPX
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
3,834.26 2,708.95 2,336.99 1,307.79 3,247.08
1,208.97 1,432.64 149.37 395.31 1,168.96
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
2,551.74 2,714.58 2,024.79 1,941.80 1,968.61 2,105.48
2,086.29 1,814.14 1,593.16 1,596.36 1,659.30 1,433.19
()
JPX
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
6,315.45 5,578.41 7,784.36 3,360.20 1,648.11
3,763.64 4,009.02 3,287.23 1,643.32 821.09
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
944.78 992.11 1,049.49 1,038.98 1,001.74 1,058.27
851.58 821.09 935.20 931.26 916.78 885.15
)
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2,516.59 2,557.92 2,704.76 3,473.29 3,530.90
1,587.43 1,707.93 967.14 2,380.04 1,981.78
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
2,579.30 2,818.27 2,788.08 2,730.81 2,704.11 2,549.40
2,041.07 2,446.46 2,513.50 2,530.76 2,436.89 2,307.06
()
10
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
355.69 341.05 386.32 218.66 216.91
293.31 265.96 214.63 173.99 172.49
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
212.99 193.42 188.87 187.98 190.20 194.92
188.45 178.85 179.75 180.78 181.19 185.79
()
11
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
1,355.55 967.92 1,365.49 1,320.73 976.74
757.02 824.20 557.86 948.28 615.35
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
748.32 803.32 806.44 778.23 794.36 776.34
699.13 731.56 704.79 712.42 736.23 731.98
)
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12 STOXX 50
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
6,192.48 5,876.87 5,749.65 6,189.78 7,576.03
5,254.96 5,080.21 3,517.58 5,168.56 6,118.92
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
7,493.90 7,504.00 7,366.56 7,404.91 7,410.66 7,256.53
7,024.24 7,272.24 6,938.60 7,008.49 7,189.33 6,835.19
)
13 S&P500 ( )
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
524.51 597.95 645.54 804.44 808.33
443.47 458.25 388.46 630.89 661.05
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
733.23 781.83 786.63 777.29 785.62 765.61
667.24 711.41 74451 747.40 754.74 722.86
)
14 S&P REIT  (
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
604.85 721.44 762.78 741.64 749.48
553.28 573.28 476.26 668.09 585.80
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
659.53 656.47 656.46 695.47 706.39 673.61
585.80 610.26 636.76 644.38 664.90 644.78
)
15 Nifty50 Q@ ( )
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
5,467.50 5,440.90 6,069.20 10,131.75 9,802.55
3,930.25 4,172.95 1,933.80 5,744.50 6,602.50
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
8,911.55 9,610.40 9,664.35 9,016.90 8,743.00 8,435.55
7,880.80 8,911.45 8,618.90 8,362.55 8,027.35 7,656.55
()
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16 Nifty50 ( )
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
396.10 381.20 519.00 279.90 246.30
337.25 334.05 272.85 205.95 202.45
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
224.15 210.70 214.45 217.90 222.65 228.15
210.65 203.00 202.45 209.80 213.20 217.20
)
17 70
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
47,746.38 44,874.06 44,346.51 49,647.93 55,066.87
37,031.05 36,732.76 30,206.25 38,674.20 45,283.17
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
52,235.76 | 55,066.87 | 54,472.52 | 56,435.69 | 58,672.99 | 60,600.97
50,297.92 | 52,221.32| 52,785.25| 53,233.67| 55,271.06 | 54,325.02
)
18 S&P/IPX
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
288.258 281.344 278.637 322.778 355.329
225.787 225.218 194.636 261.267 292.716
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
338.482 355.329 354.112 362.679 375.927 388.930
327.388 332.029 339.241 344.999 354.080 352.034
)
19 REIT
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
4,172.403 5,471.260 5,536.668 5,700.644 5,564.628
3,591.120 4,033.305 2,884.009 4,482.509 4,853.520
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
5,431.085 | 5,505.213 | 5,489.870 | 5,224.237 | 5,223.994 | 5,195.104
5,097.877 | 5,324.864 | 5,082.506 | 5,000.715| 5,092.712| 4,959.712
)
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20 Al 70
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
38,373.24 34,441.74 34,553.13 41,869.65 43,087.00
28,161.23 29,208.32 23,397.85 33,320.78 35,806.38
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
40,990.79 43,087.00 42,391.00 42,004.50 42,966.62 44,646.18
39,445.59 41,222.63 40,139.04 39,444.72 41,594.66 41,467.05
()
21 30
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
25,957.90 19,494.79 23,226.87 29,726.88 31,227.54
16,457.87 15,835.26 12,760.43 23,236.82 25,384.19
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
29,072.55 31,191.97 31,156.01 31,119.77 32,331.95 33,536.95
27,598.90 29,277.53 30,107.78 29,110.54 30,366.75 29,990.16
)
22 50
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
27,725.06 27,826.69 27,823.84 31,977.30 32,435.88
22,879.73 23,361.87 20,871.32 26,253.31 28,798.51
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
31,475.12 32,435.88 31,754.76 31,786.44 31,795.55 32,593.43
30,327.51 30,732.23 30,590.30 30,140.86 31,269.84 31,291.19
()
23
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
1,820.28 1,684.41 1,670.68 2,065.67 2,027.31
1,279.74 1,345.49 1,083.17 1,611.98 1,690.43
2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 2023
10 11 12
1,954.26 2,027.31 1,983.95 2,002.44 2,079.97 2,174.08
1,878.05 1,916.47 1,894.10 1,894.69 1,982.46 2,015.25
)
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2023 31
( EU-IFRS )
2023 31
2023 31
Audit Firm Supervision Act (Vio
)
(VGBA
)

(  ““NHI* ) 100%
NHI (

) JDR
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| ndependent auditor’s report

To: the shareholder and the managing directors of Nomura Europe Finance NV.

Report on the audit of the financial statementsfor the year ended 31 March
2023 included in the annual report

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 of Nomura Europe Finance NV. based in
Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of Nomura Europe Finance
NYV. asat 31 March 2023 and of itsresult and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-1FRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Thefinancia statements comprise:
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023
the following statements for the year ended 31 March 2023: the income statement, the statements of comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows
the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Basisfor our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of Nomura Europe Finance NV. (the company) in accordance with the “Wet toezicht accountantsorgani saties’
(Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the “Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten” (ViO,
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulationsin
the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the “Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code
of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

I nformation in support of our opinion

We designed our audit proceduresin the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole and in forming our opinion thereon.
The following information in support of our opinion and any findings were addressed in this context, and we do not provide a separate
opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Our understanding of the business

Nomura Europe Finance NV. isawholly owned subsidiary of Nomura Holdings, Inc. (“NHI") which principa activity isto act asa
financing company for group financing purposes. The company’s objectives are to assist NHI and its subsidiaries (together the
Nomura Group) in such activities such as raising funds from the global debt capital markets and providing for the Nomura Group
internationally. The company also issued medium-term notes in the form of Japanese Depositary Receipt (JDRS), listed on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange. Contractual due amounts of these notes may link to various indices. For risk management purposes, the company uses
derivative instruments with other entities within Nomura Group to economically hedge the risk arising from the fluctuations of indices.
We paid specific attention in our audit to a number of areas driven by the operations of the company and our risk assessment.

We determined materiality and identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error in order to design audit procedures responsive to those risks and to obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Materiality

Materiality JPY 5,180 million (31 March 2022: JPY 6,825 million)

0.5% of ‘debt issued and other borrowing’ and ‘financial liabilities designated at fair value

Benchmark applied .
through profit or loss as at 31 March 2023. (31 March 2022: 0.5%)

We have chosen ‘ debt issued and other borrowing’ and ‘financial liabilities designated at
Exolanation fair value through profit or loss as benchmark as we believe the total balance of these
. accounts is the most important metric for the users of the financial statements. We

determined materiality consistently with the previous financia year.

We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the
financial statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the managing directors that misstatementsin excess of JPY 259 million, which are identified during the audit, would
be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit
Nomura Europe Finance NV. has operationsin both Tokyo (Japan) and Amsterdam (the Netherlands). The financial information of
operations at both locationsis included in the financial statements of the company.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the audit in
order to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the company’s operations to express an
opinion on the financial statements. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit proceduresto be carried out
for both the Tokyo and Amsterdam operations.

We have:
Performed audit procedures ourselves over operations in the Netherlands
Used the work of acomponent auditor, an EY Global member firm, operating under our coordination and supervision when
auditing the operationsin Japan

We sent instructions to the component auditor for the Tokyo operations, covering the significant areas and the information required to
be reported to us. Based on our risk assessment, we held virtual site visits with our team in Japan. These site visits were virtua
encompassed some, or all, of the following activities: reviewing key local working papers and conclusions and obtaining an
understanding of key processes. We interacted regularly with the component team during various stages of the audit, through the use of
video or teleconferencing facilities. We held a collective virtual closing meeting with both Amsterdam and Tokyo management. We
reviewed key working papers of the component auditor using the EY electronic audit file platform, screen sharing or by the provision
of copies of work papers direct to the audit team.

By performing the procedures mentioned above over operations in the Netherlands and Japan, we have been able to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence about the company’s financial information to provide an opinion on the financia statements as awhole.

Teaming and use of specialists

We ensured that the audit teams both at group and at component levels included the appropriate skills and competences which are
needed for the audit of alisted client in the banking industry. We included specialistsin the areas of IT audit and income tax and have
made use of our own experts in the areas of valuations derivatives and other financia instruments designated at fair value.

Our focus on fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations

Our responsibility

Although we are not responsible for preventing fraud or non-compliance and we cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and regulations, it is our responsibility to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements, taken as awhole, are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Our audit responserelated to fraud risks

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we obtained
an understanding of the company and its environment and the components of the system of internal control, including the risk
assessment process and the managing directors process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of internal
control, as well as the outcomes.

We refer to section “Objective and policy of risk management” of the Managing directors report and note 23 “Risk management” to
the financial statements for the managing directors risk assessment after consideration of potential fraud risks.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the system of internal control and in particular the fraud risk assessment, as well asthe
code of conduct and incident registration at the Nomura group level. We evaluated the design and the implementation and, where
considered appropriate, tested the operating effectiveness, of internal controls designed to mitigate fraud risks.

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud and
misappropriation of assets. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that arisk of material misstatement due to fraud is present.

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We a so considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and
evaluated whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance.

Asin all of our audits, we addressed the risks related to management override of controls. For these risks we have performed
procedures among others to evaluate key accounting estimates for management bias that may represent arisk of material misstatement
dueto fraud, in particular relating to important judgment areas and significant accounting estimates as disclosed in Note 2.2
“Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions’ to the financial statements. We have also used data analysis to identify
and address high-risk journal entries and evaluated the business rationale (or the lack thereof) of significant extraordinary transactions,
including those with related parties. These risks did however not require significant auditor’'s attention during our audit.

We did not identify arisk of fraud in revenue recognition.

We considered available information and made enquiries of relevant executives both in Amsterdam and Tokyo, the managing
directors and Nomura group’s internal audit, legal and compliance departments.

The consideration of the potential risk of management override of controls or other inappropriate influence over the financial reporting
process, enquiries and other available information did not lead to specific indications for fraud or suspected fraud potentially materially
impacting the view of the financia statements.

Our audit responserelated to risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations

We performed appropriate audit procedures regarding compliance with the provisions of those laws and regulations that have adirect
effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Furthermore, we assessed factors related to
the risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general industry experience, through discussions with the managing directors, reading minutes, inspection of NHI’
sinternal audit and compliance reports, and performing substantive tests of details of classes of transactions, account balances or
disclosures.

We aso inspected alawyers |etter and correspondence with regulatory authorities and remained alert to any indication of (suspected)
non-compliance throughout the audit. Finally we obtained written representations that all known instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations have been disclosed to us.

Our audit response related to going concern

Asdisclosed in the note 2.1 ‘Basis of preparation’ to the financial statements, the financial statements have been prepared on agoing
concern basis. When preparing the financia statements, managing directors made a specific assessment of the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to continue its operations for the foreseeable future.

We discussed and evaluated the specific assessment with the managing directors exercising professional judgment and maintaining
professional skepticism. We considered whether the managing directors going concern assessment, based on our knowledge and
understanding obtained through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, contains all relevant events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.
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Based on our procedures performed, we did not identify material uncertainties about going concern. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financia
statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the managing directors. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive
reflection of all matters discussed.

In comparison with previous year, the nature of our key audit matters did not change.

The derivatives portfolio of Nomura Europe Finance NV. comprises of non-listed derivatives where the
values are based on valuation techniques using both market observable (mainly level 2 positions) and non-
market observable (mainly level 3 positions) inputs.

Risk ) ) S - ) .
We consider the fair value of derivative financial instruments as disclosed in note 14 and note 24 to the
financial statements as akey audit matter due to the relative size of the related accounts as compared to the
financial position and materiality, and given the inherent complexity of the estimates with aresulting risk for
incorrect valuation of the derivative financial instruments.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the appropriateness of the company’ s accounting
policies relating to the valuation of derivative financial instrumentsin accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ aswell as current and emerging industry practices and whether these have been applied
consistently.

\We have obtained an understanding of the derivatives valuation process, evaluated the design and tested
operating effectiveness of internal controls. This includes those controls within the model validation process
land the independent price verification process that address the risk of material misstatement relating to
management’ s assessment of the significant inputs and estimates included in fair value measurement. It also

Our audit approach |, . o . -
includes the testing of model performance and suitability controlsin the current market conditions.

Furthermore, we evaluated valuation methodol ogies and tested the most significant valuation inputs by
icomparing these inputs to independently sourced market data for market observable inputs and other third
party sources for non-market observable inputs. In addition, we tested the accuracy of the valuation
adjustments relating to CVA and DVA. We performed independent testing on fair values of positions held
with the support of our own valuation specialists.

Additionally, we evaluated the relevant disclosures for accuracy and completeness.

Based on our procedures, we have no material findings on the valuation of derivative financial instrumentsin

Key observations .
accordance with EU-IFRS.
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Nomura Europe Finance NV. issuesfinancial liabilities which are designated at fair value through profit or
loss, where the values are based on valuation techniques using both market observable (mainly level 2
positions) and non-market observable (mainly level 3 positions) inputs.

Risk . i . e . . . ) .
We consider the fair value of financia liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss as disclosed in
note 20 and note 24 to the financial statements as akey audit matter due to the relative size of the account as
compared to the financial position and materiality, and given the inherent complexity of the estimates with a
resulting risk for incorrect valuation of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the appropriateness of the company’ s accounting
policies relating to the valuation of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or lossin
laccordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments and IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ as well as current and
emerging industry practices and whether these have been applied consistently.

\We have obtained an understanding of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
\val uation process and evaluated the design and tested operating effectiveness of internal controls. This

i ncludes those controls within the model validation process and the independent price verification process that
laddress the risk of material misstatement relating to management’ s assessment of the significant inputs and
Our audit approach [estimatesincluded in fair value measurement. It also includes the testing of model performance and suitability
controlsin the current market conditions.

Furthermore, we evaluated valuation methodologies and tested the most significant valuation inputs by
icomparison of these inputs to independently sourced market data for market observable inputs and other third
party sources for non-market observable inputs. In addition, we tested the accuracy of the valuation

adj ustments relating to own credit risk. We performed independent testing on fair values of positionsissued
with the support of our own valuation specialists.

Additionally, we evaluated the relevant disclosures for accuracy and compl eteness.

. Based on our procedures, we have no material findings on the valuation of financial liabilities designated at
Key observations ) . . .
fair value through profit or loss in accordance with EU-IFRS.
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Asdisclosed in Note 2.3 () of the financial statements, Nomura Europe Finance NV. isrequired to record
an impairment allowance for expected credit losses for the loans and advances to affiliates. The impairment
alowance is based on the expected credit losses associated with the probability of default in the next 12
months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case the

Risk allowance is based on the probability of default over the expected life of the instrument.

We consider the valuation of the loans and advances to affiliates as disclosed in note 5 to the financial
statements as a key audit matter due to the size of the loans and advances to affiliates and given that an
impairment may have a material effect on the company’s result.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating the appropriateness of the company’s accounting
policies related to recognition of expected credit losses in accordance with of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments.
\We evaluated whether the accounting policies and methods applied for making estimates have been applied
consistently.

\We have verified the valuation of loans and advances to affiliates by obtaining an understanding of the
impairment process and model. We assessed the impai rment methodology and expected credit loss cal culation.
\We verified the criteriafor identifying significant increase in credit risk and tested the accuracy of internal
credit ratings.

\We evaluated the determination of the probability of default including forward-looking information. We
evaluated management’s impact assessment for current and expected market conditions on expected credit
losses. Furthermore, we recal culated the impairment allowance as per 31 March 2023.

Our audit approach

Additionally, we evaluated the relevant disclosures for accuracy and compl eteness.

Based on our procedures, we have no material findings on the impairment allowance for expected credit

Key observations . . .
losses for the loans and advances to affiliates in accordance with EU-IFRS.

Report on other information included in the annual report

The annual report contains other information in addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements
contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the management report and the other
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financia statements
or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. By performing these procedures, we
comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures
performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The managing directors are responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the management report in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Engagement

We were engaged by the managing directors as auditor of Nomura Europe Finance NV. We are unable to determine since which
financial year we have operated as the statutory auditor, but we have operated as statutory auditor for at least 18 years.

Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the managing directors for the financial statements

The managing directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-
IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the managing directors are responsible for such internal control as
the managing directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financia statements, the managing directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, the managing directors should prepare the
financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the shareholder either intends to liquidate the company or to
cease operations, or has no redlistic alternative but to do so. The managing directors should disclose events and circumstances that may
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

Our responsibilitiesfor the audit of thefinancial statements
Our objective isto plan and perform the audit engagement in amanner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not detect all material errors and
fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financia statements. The materiality affects the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch
Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. The ‘ Information in support of our opinion’ section above
includes an informative summary of our responsibilities and the work performed as the basis for our opinion.
Our audit further included among others:
Performing audit procedures responsive to the risks identified, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide abasis for our opinion
Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control
Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the managing directors
Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures
Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation

Communication
We communicate with the managing directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We provide the managing directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the managing directors, we determine the key audit matters: those matters that were of most

significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these mattersin our auditor’ s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public
interest.

Amsterdam, 5 July 2023

Ernst & Young AccountantsLLP

R. Koekkoek
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